1528

Global variation in freshwater physicochemistry and its influence on chemical toxicity in aquatic wildlife

João Paulo S. Pinheiro^{1*}, Fredric M. Windsor^{2*}, Rod W. Wilson^{3*} and Charles R. Tyler^{3*}

¹Instituto de Biociências, Universidade de São Paulo, Matão Street, 14 Lane, Number 101, Room 220, Cidade Universitária, São Paulo, 05508-090, Brazil

²School of Natural and Environmental Sciences, Newcastle University, Newcastle, Tyne and Wear, NE1 7RU, U.K.
³Biosciences, University of Exeter, Exeter, Devon, EX4 40D, U.K.

ABSTRACT

Chemical pollution is one of the major threats to global freshwater biodiversity and will be exacerbated through changes in temperature and rainfall patterns, acid-base chemistry, and reduced freshwater availability due to climate change. In this review we show how physico-chemical features of natural fresh waters, including pH, temperature, oxygen, carbon dioxide, divalent cations, anions, carbonate alkalinity, salinity and dissolved organic matter, can affect the environmental risk to aquatic wildlife of pollutant chemicals. We evidence how these features of freshwater physico-chemistry directly and/or indirectly affect the solubility, speciation, bioavailability and uptake of chemicals [including *via* alterations in the trans-epithelial electric potential (TEP) across the gills or skin] as well as the internal physiology/biochemistry of the organisms, and hence ultimately toxicity. We also show how toxicity can vary with species and ontogeny. We use a new database of global freshwater chemistry (GLORICH) to demonstrate the huge variability (often >1000-fold) for these physico-chemical variables in natural fresh waters, and hence their importance to ecotoxicology. We emphasise that a better understanding of chemical toxicity and more accurate environmental risk assessment requires greater consideration of the natural water physico-chemistry in which the organisms we seek to protect live.

Key words: alkalinity, antimicrobials, dissolved organic carbon (DOC), environmental protection, hardness, herbicides, metals, pharmaceuticals, persistent chemicals, pesticides

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	
II.	Water physico-chemistry and the risk of chemicals	1530
	(1) pH	1530
	(2) Temperature	1534
	(3) Oxygen	1535
	(4) Carbon dioxide	1536
	(5) Divalent cations	1537
	(6) Anions	1538
	(7) Carbonate alkalinity	1538
	(8) Salinity	1539
	(9) Dissolved organic matter	

^{*} Authors for correspondence (Tel.: +551130917531; E-mail: joaopaulospinheiro@yahoo.com.br); (Tel.: +441912 086900; E-mail: fredric. windsor@newcastle.ac.uk); (Tel.: +441392 724652; E-mail: r.w.wilson@exeter.ac.uk); (Tel.: +441392 264450; E-mail: c.r.tyler@exeter. ac.uk)

Biological Reviews **96** (2021) 1528–1546 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

eren & Klaine, 2004; Grosell, 2011) all allect metal specia-	guidelines. These species may not necessarily represent the	
	diversity of freshwater biota within any given taxonomic	

III. Conclusions	l
IV. Acknowledgements	
V. References)

I. INTRODUCTION

Pollution is considered one of the major threats to global fresh waters, and derives from a diversity of sources, including domestic and industrial effluents, agriculture, road run-off, mine tailings and leakage from landfill sites (Reid, MacBeath & Csatádi, 2013). Discharges contain complex mixtures of chemicals that can include persistent organic compounds, pesticides, pharmaceuticals, inorganic nitrogen compounds and metals; more than 30000 chemicals are in widespread use (US EPA, 2019). Climate change is causing dramatic changes in thermal regimes and rainfall patterns, and this, together with an overall reduction in freshwater availability, is predicted to exacerbate the adverse effects of chemical pollutants (Balbus et al., 2013; Benateau et al., 2019; Bunke et al., 2019). Most countries globally are challenged by the availability of fresh water (IUCN, 2020). There are, however, especially high risks due to the combined effects of pollution and freshwater flow reductions in Tunisia, Israel, Moldova, Syria, Hungary, Macedonia, Germany, Netherlands, Czech Republic, Algeria, Pakistan, South Africa, India, Spain, Nepal, Afghanistan, Korea, Bangladesh, Madagascar and Iraq (IUCN, 2009; Vörosmarty et al., 2010). Furthermore, freshwater biodiversity is considered to be most threatened in the Czech Republic, Luxembourg, Kuwait, Belgium, Tunisia, Germany, Moldova, Syria, Slovak Republic and Spain (IUCN, 2009; Vörosmarty et al., 2010). In the case of fishes, their biodiversity is most threatened in Indonesia, Mexico, United States, India, Australia, Tanzania, China, Malaysia, South Africa and Turkey (IUCN, 2020).

The impact of a chemical, including synthetic organic molecules, metals and other inorganic toxicants, on an organism depends on the innate toxicity of the chemical, its persistence, bioavailability, the exposure level, and the presence of other toxicants (Ibanez et al., 2007). The route of exposure, life stage, health status and sex of the organism are also important (Ibanez et al., 2007) as is the ability to metabolise and excrete toxicants. Other influential factors include the organisms' ecological niche (the physical environment it inhabits and its trophic position) (Windsor, Ormerod & Tyler, 2018). Importantly, the physico-chemical environment can also directly and/or indirectly affect both the toxicant bioavailability and potentially its form/ innate toxicity. This is well illustrated for metals such as copper (Cu), where the presence of organic matter (De Schamphelaere et al., 2004; Boeckman & Bidwell, 2006), temperature (Boeckman & Bidwell, 2006), and acidbase status (H⁺, OH⁻, HCO₃⁻ and CO₃²⁻) (Long, Van Genderen & Klaine, 2004; Grosell, 2011) all affect metal speciation which in turn determines Cu bioavailability and toxicity.

In addition, some cations compete with copper uptake processes in freshwater animals (Na⁺, Ca²⁺, and H⁺ at pH < 6) or reduce gill permeability (Ca²⁺) thereby reducing the toxic impacts of copper (Grosell, 2011). For metals, the Biotic Ligand Model (BLM), a computational regulatory tool, is now widely used in environmental guideline generation that takes into account many (but not all) of the water chemistry variables we consider in this review. This enables the generation of site-specific predictions of toxicity for many metals (Di Toro *et al.*, 2001). For chemicals more generally however, until recently the effects of water physico-chemistry on their toxicity has received relatively little study.

Chemicals are regulated in order to minimise their risks to the health of humans and wildlife populations, and avoid adverse ecological impacts (Gunnarsson et al., 2019). The approach for evaluating chemical risk in the environment operates by identifying the potential hazard of chemicals, assessing exposure risk (predicted environmental concentration; PEC), characterising the ecological hazard (predicted no-effect concentration; PNEC), and then assessing the likely risk through calculation of the risk quotient (PEC/PNEC), which for wildlife species uses the endpoints of growth, development and/or reproduction (Amiard & Amiard-Triquet, 2015; Gunnarsson et al., 2019). For approval of new chemicals in the European Union (EU) and the United States (US), an environmental risk assessment (ERA) is mandatory. These ERAs and ecotoxicological studies are carried out in accordance with guidelines from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and the US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) (Ruden et al., 2017). Even so, of the 5000 new high-productionvolume chemicals synthesised since the 1950s, less than half have undergone robust environmental safety assessments (Landrigan et al., 2018). Furthermore, these ecotoxicity tests are very basic, assessing only the effects on mortality, growth and reproduction of single species; development and behaviour are not considered, yet these are fundamental life processes that can affect individual fitness with population-level consequences (Gunnarsson et al., 2019). It is also the case that standardised procedures for chemical testing can vary among countries (Norberg-King et al., 2018), and they use a very narrow species range. For the aquatic environment, the test species include representatives of algae, invertebrates and fish taxa. The most commonly used species for chemical testing are the green alga Scenedesmus obliquus, the planktonic crustacean Daphnia magna, and the zebrafish, Danio rerio. For fish, other species, notably the fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas), Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) have also strongly influenced regulatory guidelines. These species may not necessarily represent the diversity of freshwater biota within any given taxonomic

group. As an example, the sensitivity of growth inhibition in response to antibiotic exposure can vary by orders of magnitude among species of cyanobacteria, influenced by the antibiotic modes of action (MoA; Le Page et al., 2019). Tests also tend to focus on a single route of exposure, normally via the water, whilst ignoring the dietary route or the fact that most organisms are simultaneously exposed to complex chemical mixtures in nature. Further challenges in extrapolating between chemical effects from laboratory-based exposures and wildlife populations relate to possible differences across the life stages used, and the limited concentration ranges normally tested (Amiard & Amiard-Triquet, 2015). These tests also do not consider the environmental degradation of compounds or the possibility for acclimation or adaptation of organisms in polluted environments. Moreover, and importantly, these standardised tests do not account for the considerable variation that occurs in the physico-chemistry of natural fresh waters, which is increasingly recognised as being fundamentally important in understanding chemical toxicity to aquatic organisms.

This review investigates physico-chemical characteristics of natural fresh waters, including pH, temperature, oxygen, carbon dioxide, divalent cations, anions, carbonate alkalinity, salinity, and dissolved organic matter that affect the nature, form and bioavailability of chemicals and assesses how this may impact on their toxicity to aquatic organisms from algae to invertebrates and fish (Fig. 1). We consider what the implications are for these environmental influences on chemical risk. In the final part of the review we discuss approaches to identify global areas of concern for the interactive effects of selected water physico-chemistry parameters and pollutant toxicity.

II. WATER PHYSICO-CHEMISTRY AND THE RISK OF CHEMICALS

(1) pH

The absorption and toxicokinetics of chemicals in fresh waters are directly related to the acid dissociation constant (pK_a) and the ionic arrangement of the molecule (i.e. whether it is ionized or not), with the non-ionized (neutral) form, which is lipophilic, passing more easily through cell membranes. These factors are all affected by the pH of the surrounding water.

In the natural environment, the pH of fresh waters varies widely (from pH 2 to 11) reflecting differences in regional geomorphology, hydrology, climate and/or anthropogenic influences (Valenti *et al.*, 2009; Hartmann, Lauerwald & Moosdorf, 2014, 2019; Fig. 2A). Illustrating this, in the Rio Negro, the largest tributary of the Amazon, extremely low buffering capacity and large quantities of organic acid from decaying vegetation create naturally low pH values, between 4 and 5 in the main river, and as low as pH 2.5 in forest streams (Walker & Henderson, 1996). Acidic pH values (4–5) are also now common since the 1970s in large areas

of northern Europe and eastern Canada (Schindler, 1988), and more recently in China (Liu et al., 2020). This acidification occurs where poor buffering capacity is coupled with inputs of anthropogenic 'acid rain', derived from fossil fuel emissions with high content of sulphur and nitrogen oxides that generate strong acids (sulphuric and nitric) in rainwater (Schindler, 1988). At the other end of the spectrum, there are endorheic lakes in arid regions that can exceed pH 10 but these are also highly saline ('soda lakes' > 17 ppt salinity) and so not strictly fresh water (e.g. Lake Magadi, Kenya and Lake Van, Turkey; Wilkie & Wood, 1996). However, a few lakes and rivers with salinities <5 ppt have pH values consistently above 9.5 (e.g. Pyramid Lake, Nevada; River Ganga in Rishikesh, India) due to extremely high carbonate alkalinity (HCO_3^- and CO_3^{2-} ions) released by dissolution of minerals in the unusual local geology (Wilkie & Wood, 1996; Haritash, Gaur & Garg, 2016). Considerable temporal and spatial changes in pH (Blume et al., 2010; Rothwell et al., 2010; Nienie et al., 2017) can also occur in freshwater systems due to both natural (e.g. catchment geology, land cover, primary production, soil characteristics and water source contributions) and anthropogenic factors (e.g. eutrophication via farmland irrigation, livestock densities, mining, domestic and industrial sewage) (Rothwell et al., 2010; Feng et al., 2017; Varanka & Hjort, 2017). However, more than 95% of surface fresh waters globally are between pH 6 and 9, and 99.8% are between pH 4 and 9.5 (GLORICH database; Hartmann et al., 2014, 2019; Fig. 2A).

The pK_a of each chemical identifies whether it is a weak acid or base and whether it will be neutral or charged at a given water pH, which therefore affects its bioavailability through chemical speciation (Stehly & Hayton, 1990) and potentially predicts toxicity. When the chemical species is ionized (e.g. HA⁺) it is more easily dissolved in water relative to a non-ionized species (e.g. A), and the proportion present as HA⁺ increases as pH decreases (more acidic) below the pK_a value (Nakamura et al., 2008). By contrast, molecules that are non-ionized are more lipid soluble and can, therefore, diffuse more easily through biological membranes, increasing their uptake into living cells independently of specific membrane transport systems (Erickson et al., 2006a,b; Saparov, Antonenko & Pohl, 2006; Karlsson et al., 2017). This is exemplified by the example of ammonia $(NH_3)/ammonium (NH_4^+)$, whereby higher pH increases the proportion present as non-ionized ammonia (NH₃), leading to greater internal accumulation and toxicity even when the external water total ammonia concentration (i.e. $[NH_3 + NH_4^+]$) is constant (US EPA, 2013).

Speciation effects of pH have been studied extensively for metals, where it influences bioavailability and/or toxicity based on the proportion of chemical species generated. For example, aluminium metal species have amphoteric properties which depend on pH; when in acidic water (pH <6.0) aluminium becomes bioavailable in the form of Al³⁺, in neutral environments it becomes Al(OH)₃ which is insoluble, while at basic pH (>8.0) it presents as Al(OH)₄⁻



Fig 1. The main water physico-chemistry variables that can alter the bioavailability and toxicity of chemicals to aquatic organisms, and the known mechanisms by which they exert their influence. Organisms images from PhyloPic (http://www.phylopic.org/). All other images from IAN/UMCES symbol and image libraries (https://ian.umces.edu/imagelibrary/).

(Namiesnik & Rabajczyk, 2010; Wilson, 2011). More recent studies demonstrate interactions of environmental pH with the toxicity of a wider range of chemicals, which we now illustrate.

In the algae S. obliquus, interactions have been observed between pH and the chlorophenols (weak acids), with 2.4-dichlorophenol (2,4-DCP), 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (2,4,6-TCP) and pentachlorophenol (PCP) found to be more toxic (lower EC50) at lower pHs (6.5 > 7.5 > 9.0) and a similar pattern is observed in the invertebrate, D. magna (Xing et al., 2012). The toxicity and uptake of triclosan also changes greatly with pH in Navicula sp. diatoms (Ding et al., 2018), the green alga Chlorella ellipsoidea (Khatikarn et al., 2018) and freshwater shrimp, Gammarus pulex (Rowett, Hutchinson & Comber, 2016), with the highest toxicity and bioaccumulation occurring at pH \leq 7.5 due to a preponderance of nonionized species which diffuse more readily into cells. The toxicity of hydroquinone to Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata was maintained for longer at pH 7, with higher pHs leading to oxidation of hydroquinone and loss of toxicity (Bahrs, Putschew & Steinberg, 2013).

In addition to greater bioavailability for uptake, neutral forms, under certain conditions, can generate charged fractions in the cell cytoplasm (Fahl *et al.*, 1995). In the algae *Scenedesmus vacuolatus*, which are capable of maintaining internal pH independent of the external environment, the pharmaceuticals fluoxetine, norfluoxetine, propranolol, and trimipramine (which contain a protonated basic amino group and are positively charged at internal physiological pH) showed an enhanced toxicity at higher media pH (tested at between 7.5 and 10.0) suggesting that the change in toxicity was due an effect of speciation of the basic compounds (Neuwoehner & Escher, 2011).

The toxicity of chloroquine (a weak base) has been shown to increase with increasing pH in *D. magna* due to ionization behaviour. This is true for the weak base pharmaceuticals



Fig 2. Global variation in freshwater physico-chemical variables for (A) pH, (B) temperature, (C) CO_2 , (D) dissolved organic carbon (DOC), (E) alkalinity, (F) dissolved oxygen (DO), (G) specific conductivity, (H) dissolved calcium (1 μ M of calcium is 0.040 mg l⁻¹ calcium), (I) dissolved magnesium (1 μ M of magnesium is 0.0243 mg l⁻¹ magnesium), and (J) dissolved sodium (1 μ M of sodium is 0.023 mg l⁻¹ sodium). Data for each variable were extracted from the GLORICH database (Hartmann *et al.*, 2014, 2019) and plotted as the number of records (*n*) for each variable (i.e. count per bin on the histogram).

Biological Reviews 96 (2021) 1528-1546 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

fluoxetine, paroxetine and citalopram across a range of freshwater invertebrate species including in larval Aedes aegypti (Insecta: Diptera), Cypridopsis vidua (Crustacea: Ostracoda), and Hydra vulgaris (Cnidaria: Hydrozoa) (Sundaram, Smith & Clark, 2015). Here, toxicity was related to both the ionization state and membrane permeability to the uncharged form (Sundaram et al., 2015). Similarly, studies on D. magna have shown that as pH increases toxicity changes in opposite directions depending on whether pharmaceuticals are weakly acidic (toxicity decreasing for naproxen, diclofenac, ibuprofen and ketoprofen) or weakly basic (toxicity increasing for fluoxetine and sertraline) (Bostrom & Berglund, 2015). Similarly, for other weakly acidic pharmaceuticals (acetaminophen, enrofloxacin, and sulfathiazole), toxicity decreases as the pH of the water rises and the non-ionized fraction decreases (Kim et al., 2010).

Similar effects of pH on pharmaceutical toxicity are observed in vertebrates. For example, increasing water pH enhances toxicity of the weakly basic drugs fluoxetine (in larval medaka), and sertraline (in fathead minnow) (Nakamura *et al.*, 2008) including effects on feeding, growth and survival (Valenti *et al.*, 2009). These findings are also observed for sertraline, fluoxetine, and diclofenac, in zebrafish; for sertraline the uptake was higher with increasing water pH (Alsop & Wilson, 2019).

The toxicity of the β -blockers metoprolol and propranolol (weak bases) has also been shown to increase with increasing water pH in zebrafish embryos (Bittner *et al.*, 2018). Sublethal effects (e.g. on heart rate and behaviour) of these drugs were associated with the neutral fraction (Bittner *et al.*, 2018). Interestingly, the speciation of the compound may only be relevant to its absorption (toxicokinetics) and not for its intrinsic toxicity, as freshwater pH was not found to be related to the effective internal concentration (IEC) (Bittner *et al.*, 2018).

The majority of these studies use physico-chemical parameters (including pH) set out in standardised test (e.g. OECD) guidelines. However, these test media conditions may not be applicable to the pH range observed in nature where either the study species or the chemicals being tested are relevant. Therefore, some effects of speciation and toxicity may be underestimated or overestimated – directly influencing ecological risk assessments (Valenti *et al.*, 2009; Bostrom & Berglund, 2015). We therefore emphasise the importance of understanding the link between water pH and the toxicity of the chemical in risk assessment.

Water pH also exerts a much lesser known effect directly on the trans-epithelial electrical potential (TEP) across the outer surface of aquatic animals (McWilliams & Potts, 1978; Wood *et al.*, 1998; Fig. 3A) which in turn can potentially affect their sensitivity to chemical effects. The change in TEP with water pH is of sufficient magnitude (>50 mV range) to influence the electrochemical gradient of any charged molecules (both inorganic and organic) and hence their uptake *via* the gills and skin. Ecotoxicological studies have not yet addressed this concept. However, given the large pH range in fresh water globally (Hartmann



Fig 3. The influence of (A) water pH, (B) calcium concentration, and (C) dissolved organic carbon (DOC), on the transepithelial electrical potential (TEP) in various species of fish. Relationships were redrawn (excluding raw data points) using data from McWilliams & Potts (1978) for brown trout (Salmo trutta) at 10°C, and Wood et al. (1998) for tambaqui (Colossoma macropomum) at 28°C in A, and from the same papers plus Eddy (1975) for goldfish (Carassius auratus - temperature not specified) in B. In C the relationships were redrawn from Wood et al. (2011). In A and B the TEP represents absolute measurements made in vivo relative to the external (water-side) potential. A negative TEP therefore means the blood side is negative relative to the water side. The same principle applies to C, except that the y-axis represents the change in TEP measured following transfer from control water with low DOC (Lake Ontario water) and low aromaticity (2.2 cm²/mg C) to different waters containing consistently high DOC (all at 10 mg/l) with a range of aromaticity values from 2.7 to 53.5 cm²/mg C. SAC refers to the specific absorption coefficient (at 340 nm). The two lines in C represent TEP changes measured in vivo (dashed line) using cannulated rainbow trout, and in vitro (solid line) using cultured rainbow trout gill epithelia. Note that increasing H⁺ and Ca²⁴ concentrations cause TEP to become more positive, whereas increasing aromaticity of DOC causes TEP to become more negative.

et al., 2014, 2019; Fig. 2A) it likely plays an important role in determining the uptake and hence toxicity of any charged chemicals. We recommend that future laboratory-based testing should consider the environmentally relevant water pH range when designing media for determining toxic impacts, chemical speciation and other aspects that influence uptake (such as TEP).

(2) Temperature

Temperature has a strong influence on a wide range of physiological processes in aquatic poikilotherms, whilst also affecting the bioavailability, adsorption, elimination and relative toxicity of chemicals (Kim *et al.*, 2010; Patra *et al.*, 2015; Op de Beeck *et al.*, 2017). The temperature effects on chemicals may occur directly through altering their physicochemical behaviour (e.g. degradation and volatilisation), their transport, transfer, deposition and their fate between the water, suspended organic matter and sediments (MacDonald, Harner & Fyfe, 2005). Effects of temperature on the toxicity and bioavailability of toxicants vary with the type of chemical, and may differ among algae, invertebrate, and vertebrate species, as well as among ontogenetic stages. In many natural cases multiple effects of temperature will influence the toxicity of a chemical to aquatic organisms.

Temperature can modulate the rate of uptake of a chemical into aquatic organisms through directly affecting the chemical's mobility. At elevated temperatures chemical molecules diffuse more quickly, resulting in faster rates uptake into the organism. In turn the toxicological threshold for a chemical may be reached more rapidly. In natural systems this could determine whether a toxic effect occurs where the exposure is relatively short-lived, for example as a consequence of a chemical spill into a river. Temperature can also have a direct effect on the toxicity of a chemical through affecting the rate of its degradation. In the green algae P. subcapitata, for example, the herbicide diuron has been shown to have a lower toxicity (on growth and suppression of photosystem II activity) at higher (20°C, 25°C and 30°C) *versus* lower (10° C and 15° C) temperatures due to enhanced rates of chemical degradation/volatilisation at the warmer temperatures (Tasmin et al., 2014). Similarly, in the damselfly Ischnura elegans there was a lower toxicity for exposure to the pesticide chlorpyrifos at 24°C versus 20°C, due to a higher rate of biodegradation, which produces compounds that are less toxic (Op de Beeck et al., 2017). By contrast, a faster rate of biotransformation of the organophosphate insecticide chlorpyrifos induced by higher temperatures increases its toxicity to the benthic invertebrate C. dilutes, in this case because the biotransformation products are more toxic to the organism (Harwood, You & Lydy, 2009).

The metabolic rate in poikilotherms is strongly influenced by temperature with an approximately twofold increase for a 10°C change in water temperature (Q10 effect). The metabolic rate of an organism will in turn affect the rate at which a chemical is taken up and the rate (and how) the chemical is metabolised (and excreted). Enhanced chemical uptake at elevated temperatures has been shown for a wide range of chemicals and aquatic organisms. Examples include mefluoride in the zebra mussel Dreissena polymorpha at 22°C versus 17°C (Del Piero, Masiero & Casellato, 2012), the fungicide pyrimethanil in larval stages of Chironomus riparius and D. magna at 26°C versus 14°C (Seeland, Oehlmann & Müller, 2012) and the pharmaceuticals diclofenac, ibuprofen and carbamazepin in the invertebrate Atyaephyra desmarestii at 25°C versus 20°C (Nieto et al., 2016). In the cyprinid fish Spinibarbus sinensis, greater uptake of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS; a fluorosurfactant) at 28°C versus 18°C has been shown to cause a marked reduction in its ability to respond to a predatory attack (Xia et al., 2015). In the above examples, higher rates of ventilation with associated higher diffusion and/or active transport across the gills at higher temperatures are often associated with accumulation of these contaminants.

In some cases higher exposure temperatures result in effects on the organism's metabolic ability to reduce a chemical's toxicity. For example, in the snail Physella acuta, the fungicide pyrimethanil caused a less inhibitory effect on hatching at 25°C and 20°C versus 15°C due to a more rapid chemical metabolism, as well as an enhanced capability for cell repair in embryos (Seeland et al., 2013). Similarly, lower rates of mortality and higher swimming performance have been reported in the epibenthic amphipod Hyalella azteca exposed to the pyrethroid insecticide bifenthrin at 20°C versus both 12°C and 16°C (Hasenbein, Poynton & Connon, 2018) and this was related to enhanced metabolism of the insecticide (Narahashi, 2002). In the benthic invertebrate Chironomus dilutes toxic responses to the organochlorine dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane (DDT) and the pyrethroids permethrin and lambda-cyhalothrin were lower at 23°C versus 13°C due to reduced nerve sensitivity at the higher temperature (Harwood et al., 2009).

In some cases temperature can affect a specific metabolic enzyme to enhance a chemical exposure effect. For example, in the case of the herbicide diuron (which causes thyroid disruption) exposure of tadpoles of *Lithobates catesbeianus* at 34°C versus 28°C accelerated tadpole metamorphosis due to a temperature-induced increase in gene expression of the key enzyme, iodothyronine deiodinase II (Freitas et al., 2016). In studies on zebrafish an increase in temperature from 28°C to 33°C enhanced the gonadal feminising effects of the aromatase inhibitor clotrimazole (Brown et al., 2015). A further illustration of how temperature can affect enzyme processes to alter a toxicological response has been shown in fathead minnow exposed to the steroidal oestrogen oestrone (E1). At a lower temperature (15°C versus 18°C, 21°C and 24°C) there was a greater effect of E1 on escape performance and larval foraging due to slower degradation and elimination of the steroid (Ward, Cox & Schoenfuss, 2017). For the antibiotic, florfenicol, which inhibits protein synthesis, exposure of D. magna at warmer temperatures (from 20° C to 25° C) was increasingly toxic due to greater inhibition of protein biosynthesis repair mechanisms (Martins, Guimarães & Guilhermino, 2013).

The life stage of an organism can also influence how temperature affects a chemical's toxicity. Juvenile life stages of the copepod *Eucyclops serrulatus* have been shown to be more sensitive than adults to the effects of ammonia, imazamox (an herbicide), and a mixture of these pollutants, at 18°C *versus* 15°C due to the greater effect of temperature on metabolic rate in juveniles, resulting in greater uptake (Di Lorenzo *et al.*, 2015). Juvenile life stages of some invertebrates also have less-efficient mechanisms for detoxification, one example being juveniles of the prawn *Macrobrachium tenellum*, which are less able to detoxify ammonia-N, and as a result are more susceptible to its toxic effects compared with adults (Figueroa-Lucero, Hernández-Rubio & Gutiérrez-Ladrón De Guevara, 2012).

In some cases the effects of temperature on chemical toxicity appear to be particularly complex. For example, in the freshwater snail *Potamopyrgus antipodarum*, where temperature is directly involved with the reproductive process, exposure to the oestrogenic endocrine disrupter Bisphenol A, has been shown to have greater reproductive effects at the lower and higher temperatures tested (7°C and 25°C) compared with at 16°C (Sieratowicz *et al.*, 2011), but the underlying mechanism(s) have not been established.

Different populations of the same species may show differences in how temperature influences chemical toxicity. For example, populations of the damselfly *I. elegans* adapted to lower latitudes (warmer temperatures) suffer less toxicity in exposures at high temperatures than populations adapted to higher latitudes (cooler temperatures) (Op de Beeck *et al.*, 2017). Thus, the local thermal ranges of the populations being studied should be considered, as their prior thermal adaptations may have a significant bearing on how temperature affects toxic responses to pesticides in invertebrates.

Temperature can also affect community-level responses to chemicals. As an example, exposure to the pesticide esfenvalerate had greater negative long-term effects on *Daphnia* sp. at higher temperatures as a result of altered competition across the wider zooplankton community, potentially due to increased sensitivity to competition in warmer water (Knillmann *et al.*, 2013).

An important but neglected issue is that OECD test guidelines and environmental regulations generally adopt a fixed temperature regime that does not allow for the fluctuations that individual organisms in their natural environment can experience daily, seasonal and/or annually, which, as illustrated in the examples above, may have a major impact upon the toxic effects of chemicals. This illustrates an important difference between standardised laboratory toxicity test regimes and the natural habitats of the organisms we are seeking to protect, as well as when accounting for future climate change.

(3) Oxygen

Oxygen is necessary for aerobic metabolism, including respiration in aquatic algae, plants, invertebrates and vertebrates. Fresh water holds 20–40 times less oxygen than atmospheric air when they are fully equilibrated (Cameron, 1986). Hence, water-breathing organisms are compromised relative to their terrestrial counterparts in terms of their potential capacity for aerobic metabolism. In addition, the availability of oxygen in freshwater habitats can show considerable daily oscillations, affected by temperature and light (driving respiratory and photosynthetic rates), the presence of organic matter (a resource for microbial respiration) and various other factors (Fig. 2F). In some cases, these natural factors can lead to hypoxia. The incidence of hypoxia in freshwater environments has been increasing over the last three centuries due to anthropogenic nutrient release (eutrophication), and has been accelerated further by climate change (warming) which directly reduces dissolved oxygen levels (Diaz & Breitburg, 2009; Jenny et al., 2016). These changes in oxygen availability can alter the behaviour and physiology of an organism, which in turn can have a major bearing on chemical toxicity. For example, under hypoxic conditions gill ventilation rate in fish and aquatic invertebrates increases to maintain oxygen uptake rate. However, the greater rate of water movement over the gills will also increase the uptake rate for some xenobiotics dissolved in water (McKim, Schmieder & Veith, 1985; Randall, 1990; McKim & Erickson, 1991; Yang et al., 2000; Schiedek et al., 2007). Hypoxia can also lead to an increase in the functional surface area of fish gills and a reduction in the mean diffusion distance between blood and water. These changes can occur quite rapidly, for example by redirection of blood flow pathways within the gills, and increases in haemoglobin concentration and its affinity for O_2 , and over the longer term (days/weeks) due to reversible gill remodelling. The latter can include an interlamellar cell mass (present in some species in normoxia) which atrophies in hypoxic conditions revealing a much greater lamellar area (Nilsson, Dymowska & Stecvk, 2012; Wood & Eom, 2021). These factors that enhance functional gill area and gas exchange during hypoxia may simultaneously also enhance xenobiotic uptake rates (Sundin & Nilson, 1998; Val, 2000; Du et al., 2018; Gilmour & Perry, 2018; Saari et al., 2020).

Despite this knowledge, few studies have evaluated the combined effects of hypoxia and chemicals in the aquatic environment. In one such study on the three-spined stickleback (Gasterosteus aculeatus), exposure to diclofenac under hypoxic conditions $(2.0 \pm 0.2 \text{ mg l}^{-1} \text{ dissolved oxygen})$ has been shown to result in the upregulation in the liver of cytochrome P4501A (CYP1A) activity, which mediates chemical biotransformation (Prokkola et al., 2015). However, by contrast, downregulation of cyp1a1 (and hsp90) occurs in the gills of G. aculeatus (Lubiana et al., 2016) under the same exposure conditions. Thus, oxygen availability can potentially affect toxicity via both chemical uptake and responses in the enzyme detoxification system and this may vary among different tissues and result in differences in tissue sensitivities to the affects of hypoxia (Prokkola et al., 2015; Lubiana et al., 2016).

Chemical test guidelines for oxygen levels vary. For example, OECD test guidelines for algae do not provide

recommendations for the concentration of dissolved oxygen [e.g. OECD Test No. 201 (OECD, 2011a)]. Yet for D. magna [Test Nos 202 and 211 (OECD, 2004, 2012a)] levels above 3 mg l^{-1} of dissolved oxygen in water are recommended, and for fish the recommendations are for more than 60% [Test Nos 203, 210, 212, 215, 229, 234 (OECD, 1998, 2000, 2011b, 2012b, 2013a, 2019)] or above 80% dissolved oxygen saturation [Test No. 236 (OECD, 2013b)]. We see a major knowledge gap in understanding and assessing toxicity of chemicals to aquatic organisms under varying environmental oxygen concentrations, as well as in understanding how these affect chemical solubility and the formation of possible toxic by-products. Research into how hypoxic conditions affect the physiology of aquatic organisms and their ability to cope with chemical toxicity is much needed given the large (and increasing) expanse of surface waters experiencing such conditions. Recent studies on interactions between hypoxia and metal toxicity in zebrafish and threespined stickleback highlight the potential for major impacts of environmental oxygen (Fitzgerald et al., 2016, 2019; Fitzgerald, Katsiadaki & Santos, 2017). For example, hypoxia halved the toxicity of copper during a continuous 4-day exposure in zebrafish embryos. This effect was highly dependent on developmental stage; once the larvae hatched hypoxia increased copper toxicity (Fitzgerald et al., 2016).

(4) Carbon dioxide

Most laboratory ecotoxicology studies are conducted under conditions where the partial pressure of gases is close to equilibrium with the atmosphere. Current atmospheric CO₂ averages about 413 µatm (CO2now.org), having risen since the industrial revolution from a previously stable value of ~280 µatm and is predicted to continue this exponential rise reaching ~1000 µatm by 2100 (Meinshausen *et al.*, 2011), infamously leading to 'ocean acidification'. However, it is more accurate to refer to this phenomenon as 'aquatic acidification' because all surface waters (fresh water and saline) are affected. However, whilst many papers have investigated how increased CO₂ may affect marine organisms, relatively few have focussed on freshwater organisms, and even fewer have considered any interactions between dissolved CO₂ and toxicants.

It is worth pointing out that levels of dissolved CO_2 in fresh water are often much higher than in the atmosphere or in oceans, even when compared to climate change predictions for the year 2100 (see Fig. 2C). For example, the average ρCO_2 for over 6700 streams and rivers was >2300 µatm according to Raymond *et al.* (2013). Furthermore, the natural variability in freshwater CO_2 concentrations far exceeds oceans, ranging from effectively zero to >2400 µatm on both diel and seasonal timescales; driven by extremes in the rate of photosynthesis in response to day/night and summer/winter cycles (Maberly, 1996; Hartmann *et al.*, 2019; Xu, Xu & Yang, 2019).

Dissolved CO_2 in freshwater environments is important because it can affect the toxicity of chemicals by affecting the acid-base chemistry of both the external water and the internal fluids of the organism. An increase in carbon dioxide causes acidification by reacting with water to form carbonic acid which dissociates to form protons (H^+) and bicarbonate ions (HCO_3^{-}). The chemical speciation of many toxicants shifts towards greater bioavailability for uptake in more acidic waters (see Section II.1). However, elevated environmental CO₂ simultaneously causes increased internal CO₂ (hypercapnia) in aquatic organisms, due to the permeability of their gas exchange surfaces. When this occurs rapidly it initially causes internal acidosis (Brauner et al., 2019), i.e. reduced pH in the blood of fish or haemolymph of invertebrates, and in the intracellular fluids of all organisms, including algae. The structure and functions of all proteins are sensitive to pH, and most organisms have evolved mechanisms that eventually restore internal pH in response to prolonged exposure to high environmental CO₂. For fish and crustaceans at least, this is typically achieved by active iontransporting cells in the gills and/or skin (Hwang & Lee, 2007; Evans, 2008). The net effect is an accumulation of HCO_3^- in the internal fluids, which can restore internal pH despite internal CO₂ remaining elevated. Although the internal pH may be completely restored, the new acid-base chemistry is very different, often with internal HCO₃⁻ levels elevated several-fold. This may influence the chemical speciation and therefore the toxicity of chemicals once internalised. Metals tend to become less toxic when complexed with HCO₃⁻, although the CO₂-induced external acidification will increase their likelihood of uptake into the organism. However, the potential for internal complexation of metals (and so enhanced 'protection') by elevated plasma HCO₃⁻ will also depend on the relative affinity of the metal for plasma proteins, which may limit such beneficial effects. This concept of external versus internal acid-base impacts of CO₂ has been poorly studied in freshwater animals, but there is evidence that it is important to ecotoxicology in marine organisms. For example, DNA damage caused by copper exposure was four times lower in sea urchins (good acidbase regulators) compared to mussels (poor acid-base regulators) when simultaneously exposed to elevated CO_2 (Lewis et al., 2016). It is worth noting that the ability to regulate the acid-base balance is variable, and any protective effects of CO₂ against toxicants are likely to be specific to both life stage and species (Melzner et al., 2009; Brauner et al., 2019).

Although very few studies have explicitly investigated the potential role of elevated internal HCO_3^- in moderating chemical toxicity during simultaneous exposure to high CO_2 , there are some additional examples. For example, elevated environmental CO_2 provided some protection against the physiological impacts of waterborne copper in fish, both in fresh water (rainbow trout; Wang *et al.*, 1998) and in sea water (cod *Gadus morhua*; Larsen, Portner & Jensen, 1997). Exposure of saltwater medaka (*Oryzias melastigma*) embryos to ~1000 µatm CO_2 combined with the water-soluble fraction of crude oil resulted in greater histological damage to eyes, kidney, pancreas and liver compared to larvae from

embyros treated with each stressor separately (Sun et al., 2019).

Currently, chemical test guidelines do not contain recommendations for CO_2 , but it seems clear that: (i) freshwater ecosystems are highly variable in terms of dissolved CO₂, and (i) there is evidence for some chemicals that CO_2 affects both the external water chemistry and the internal physiology of aquatic animals in ways that can dramatically influence their toxic impacts. It is also worth highlighting that toxicologists use various methods to adjust and maintain target pH levels during toxicity tests. These methods can include the manipulation of CO₂, but also addition of mineral acid or base or organic buffers. However, each approach has implications for the physiology of the fish (e.g. for internal acid-base regulation when CO_2 is manipulated) and/or the chemistry of the toxicant under study. Therefore, replicating the natural ambient conditions as far as possible is recommended, for example to avoid overestimating the impact of pH on metal toxicity when using CO_2 or an organic buffer (Esbaugh et al., 2013).

(5) Divalent cations

Water hardness reflects the quantity of divalent cations, mainly calcium and magnesium, dissolved in the aquatic environment (Wurts, 1993). It is well known that water 'hardness' can have protective effects against chemical toxicity and allowable toxicant limits are adjusted for water hardness in many environmental guidelines. Where the BLM is used to estimate the toxicity of metals, calcium and magnesium are important input parameters. The presence of divalent cations varies greatly among inland aquatic environments (Fig. 2H, I) depending on the surrounding geological characteristics and erosion processes, as well as anthropogenic factors including agriculture, mining and the dumping of industrial and domestic waste (Wurts, 1993). Concentrations of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} are usually reported in μM units, but hardness is often reported in milligrams per litre as calcium carbonate (mg l^{-1} CaCO₃) or general hardness (°dH; 1 °dH = 17.9 mg l^{-1} CaCO₃) which assumes that all divalent cations are derived from dissolution of solid calcium carbonate. Thus, while hardness indicates the total quantity of divalent cations dissolved in the water, it does not provide information on the separate contributions of calcium and magnesium. For example, in theory, it is possible to have water with a high hardness that contains no calcium (i.e. all hardness is derived from magnesium; Wurts, 1993). The freshwater environment is often classified in terms of hardness; water with low hardness is referred to as 'soft' water and high hardness as 'hard' water.

Various studies have shown that hardness can influence the toxicity of chemicals to freshwater organisms (Soucek *et al.*, 2011; Marchand *et al.*, 2013; Baldisserotto *et al.*, 2014; Hundt *et al.*, 2016). For example, chloride toxicity is markedly reduced by elevated water hardness in *Simulium simile*, *Gyraulus parvus*, and *Tubifex tubifex* (Soucek *et al.*, 2011). Elevated Ca²⁺ and, to a lesser extent Mg²⁺, concentrations, are thought to tighten cellular junctions in the gills and skin, reducing the paracellular permeability of the epithelium to the diffusion of chloride ions, and hence saving energy required for ion regulation (Soucek *et al.*, 2011).

Water hardness has also been shown to affect the toxicity of disinfectants and antibiotics to fish (Marchand et al., 2013; Hundt et al., 2016). For peracetic acid, the toxicity to zebrafish embryos was negatively correlated with water hardness (25, 250 and 2500 mg l⁻¹ CaCO₃; Marchand et al., 2013), and oxytetracycline (OTC) was more toxic to zebrafish at extremes of water hardness (5.5 and 32.5 °dH), compared to intermediate hardness levels (15.5 and 25.5 °dH; Hundt et al., 2016). For OTC, it appeared that low levels of cations increased the quantity of the free, more toxic form. Its greater toxicity may result from higher levels of OTC-metal precipitate inhibiting respiration (Hundt et al., 2016). Water hardness can also attenuate the toxicity of nitrogenous compounds such as ammonia (NH₃) in freshwater fish, for example protecting against its neurotoxic effects and improving growth in juvenile silver catfish Rhamdia quelen (Carneiro et al., 2009; Ferreira, Cunha & Baldisseroto, 2013; Baldisserotto et al., 2014).

Calcium is well known to mitigate directly against the toxicity of several metals (Zn, Cd, Co, Pb and Sr) primarily via direct competition with these metals for physiologically important Ca^{2+} -uptake pathways in the gills (Wood, 2011). However, calcium also plays a less well-known role in regulating processes that can influence the uptake of chemicals, and ionised chemicals in particular. Firstly, calcium is potent at controlling the permeability properties of fish gills and skin, and indeed of epithelia more generally, by binding to tight-junction proteins and decreasing paracellular permeability to all molecules (Lauren & McDonald, 1985; Wood, 2011). Specifically for charged molecules, external calcium (like water pH, see Section II.1) within the naturally occurring range (Fig. 2H) strongly regulates the TEP (Eddy, 1975; McWilliams & Potts, 1978; Potts, 1984; Wood et al., 1998; Fig. 3B), with a magnitude that is sufficient to influence the uptake of charged molecules via the electrochemical gradient across the gills and skin. However, as for the effect of pH on TEP (see Fig. 3A and Section II.1), this has yet to be considered in ecotoxicological studies and risk assessments, but should be taken into account when designing media for testing toxicity.

There are currently no recommendations for water hardness levels in guidelines for tests with algae. For *D. magna* [OECD Test Nos 202 and 211 (OECD, 2004, 2012*a*)] suggested levels are 140–250 mg l⁻¹ CaCO₃, and for fish recommendations vary among different tests. For Test No. 203 [fish acute toxicity test (OECD, 2019)] recommended levels are 40–250 mg l⁻¹ CaCO₃ but preferably <180 mg l⁻¹ CaCO₃, for Test No. 212 [fish short-term toxicity test on embryo and sac-fry stages (OECD, 1998)] they are 250 mg l⁻¹ CaCO₃, for Test No. 215 [fish juvenile growth test (OECD, 2000)] they are >140 mg l⁻¹ CaCO₃, and for Test No. 236 [fish embryo acute toxicity FET test (OECD, 2013*b*)] they are 30–300 mg l⁻¹ CaCO₃. However, given the potential for water hardness to influence the toxicity of many chemicals, guidelines should perhaps include testing a range of hardness levels to allow a fuller understanding of potential biological impacts.

(6) Anions

A very specific and well-studied example of a naturally abundant freshwater anion influencing the toxicity of anthropogenic chemicals is that of Cl⁻ reducing the toxicity of nitrite (NO₂). High levels of nitrite can kill fish very quickly by rapid uptake into the blood followed by inhibition of methaemoglobin reductase in red blood cells. This enzyme repairs haemoglobin (Fe²⁺) that has been oxidised to methaemoglobin (Fe³⁺) (Freeman, Beitinger & Huey, 1983); as methaemoglobin is unable to bind oxygen, its formation compromises tissue oxygen delivery (Jensen, 2003). The initial uptake of nitrite ions from the external water is via the same molecular pathways that transport chloride ions in freshwater fish and invertebrates. Thus, higher environmental concentrations of chloride can be extremely effective at reducing nitrite uptake and toxicity, in accordance with the predictions of a competitive inhibition model (Jensen, 2003). This has been demonstrated in multiple freshwater fish including rainbow trout, perch Perca fluviatilis, pike Esox lucius, eel Anguilla anguilla, carp Cyprinus carpio, tench Tinca tinca, killifish Fundulus heteroclitus, channel catfish Ictalurus punctatus and bluegill Lepomis macrochirus (Williams & Eddy, 1986; Tomasso & Grosell, 2005). A similar relationship has been shown in some freshwater invertebrates, including crayfish (Astacus astacus), an amphipod (Eulimnogammarus toletanus) and a planarian (Polycelis felina) (Jensen, 1996; Alonso & Camargo, 2008). For both fish and invertebrates, the mitigating impact of chloride on nitrite toxicity is proportional to the animal's capacity for chloride transport via the gills or skin. Species that have low capacity for chloride uptake (e.g. eel, carp, tench, bluegill, killifish, and P. felina) are both less sensitive to nitrite per se, and benefit less from the protective effects of environmental chloride (Jensen, 2003; Tomasso & Grosell, 2005; Alonso & Camargo, 2008).

Another example is protection against fluoride toxicity by chloride ions. In the freshwater invertebrate H. azteca, fluoride toxicity decreases (lethal median concentration [LC50] increases from 8.1 to 24.8 mg l⁻¹ fluoride) as freshwater chloride increases (from 3 to 25 mg l⁻¹; Pearcy, Elphick & Burnett-Seidel, 2015). The same effect was observed in soft water conditions in rainbow trout: when chloride increased from 2 to 30 mg l^{-1} , fluoride toxicity decreased from an LC50 of 27.7 to 90.9 mg l^{-1} fluoride. However, in hard water conditions, chloride had no effect. This can be explained by the effect of calcium on fluoride solubility (i.e. CaF₂ precipitation in hard water; Pearcy et al., 2015). Similar effects have been reported for other species of aquatic organisms including H. azteca, and P. promelas (Pearcy et al., 2015). At very high chloride concentrations in both soft or hard water chloride itself can be toxic through osmotic stress caused by disruption to cellular processes associated with acid-base regulation (De Boek et al., 2000).

(7) Carbonate alkalinity

Bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) and carbonate (CO₃²⁻) ions, collectively known as carbonate alkalinity, are also anions. However, as bicarbonate is the second most abundant anion in fresh waters (as a global average, equating to 58% of the chloride concentration; Hartmann *et al.*, 2019), and because these ions have such a major influence on the impact of many toxicants, we consider carbonate alkalinity separately from the other inorganic anions.

The major source of carbonate alkalinity is an underlying geology consisting of minerals of calcium carbonate (e.g. chalk, limestone) or calcium magnesium carbonate (dolomite). This results in fresh waters with high concentrations of both bicarbonate and carbonate, and typically a high pH (see Section II.1). However, carbonate alkalinity has an influence on the speciation of many toxicants that is separate to the effects of pH. Furthermore, although a high pH and high alkalinity typically are found together, the relationship is only consistent if ρCO_2 is constant, which is rarely the case for inland aquatic ecosystems. As an example of the complexity of this relationship, for a given pH value, such as the global average of 7.6, given the common fivefold range in ρCO_2 (see Section II.4), then alkalinity will also vary by fivefold.

Carbonate alkalinity refers to the combined effect of the concentrations of bicarbonate and carbonate ions in terms of their ability to neutralise acid. Each carbonate ion (CO_3^{2-}) can neutralise two protons compared to only one by each bicarbonate ion (HCO₃⁻), hence carbonate alkalinity is numerically equal to $[HCO_3^-] + 2[CO_3^{2-}]$, with units most usefully reported as µM or µEq. However, units of milligrams per litre as calcium carbonate (mg l^{-1} CaCO₃) are often used which theoretically assumes all the alkalinity is derived from dissolution of solid calcium carbonate. The use of these different units can cause confusion. For clarity, the molecular mass of calcium carbonate is 100, so a carbonate alkalinity of 10 mg l^{-1} as ${\rm CaCO}_3$ equates to 100 $\mu {\rm M}$ (0.1 mM) as CaCO₃, but because each carbonate ion can neutralise two protons this also equates to 200 μ Eq (which would have the same acid-neutralising capacity as $200 \ \mu M$ of HCO_3^{-}).

The consideration of alkalinity as being entirely derived from calcium (and/or magnesium) carbonate minerals can create further confusion because it is often assumed that hardness (i.e. calcium and magnesium concentrations) changes in parallel with alkalinity. Although this is commonly true due to the prevalence of calcium carbonate-based geology, it is not always the case, and alkalinity can be derived from sodium rather than calcium (or magnesium)-based carbonate minerals, and/or calcium/magnesium can be precipitated in high-pH waters, yielding low hardness but high alkalinity (Witherow & Lyons, 2011). Thus hardness and carbonate alkalinity should be considered separately, even though they are often well correlated in nature.

When considering its protective effects against chemical toxicity, adjustments are made for alkalinity in many environmental guidelines, as they are for water hardness (see Section II.5). For example, alkalinity is a key input parameter when using the BLM to evaluate metal toxicity and ambient water quality criteria (AWQC). Furthermore, carbonate alkalinity varies enormously (Fig. 2E) from essentially zero (in more acidic waters) to 4000 μ Eq (200 mg l⁻¹ as CaCO₃) in chalk streams, to 23000 μ Eq (1150 mg l⁻¹ as CaCO₃) in freshwater alkaline lakes, reaching an extreme of 450000 μ Eq (22500 mg l⁻¹ as CaCO₃) in some saline soda lakes (Wilkie & Wood, 1996).

The mitigating influence of carbonate alkalinity is particularly well understood for toxic metals; alkalinity (together with pH for the inorganic components of fresh water) has a dominating effect on the speciation of Cu, Cd, Pb and Zn, with the proportion of free metal ion, its uptake and ultimately toxicity, all decreasing as alkalinity increases, due to the complexation of, and therefore reduction in, free metal ion concentrations (Wood, 2011).

Water alkalinity will also interact with environmental CO_2 : higher alkalinity increases the speed at which blood pH is regulated in fish in response to increased CO_2 levels (Larsen & Jensen, 1997). Thus water alkalinity could also affect the toxicity of compounds once they have been taken up into the blood (see Section II.4).

(8) Salinity

The total concentration of all ions (salinity) in fresh waters will reflect the local geochemistry together with the cumulative contact time. However, it will also be influenced by a range of anthropogenic activities, including mining, irrigation practices, vegetation removal for agriculture, fertilizers, pesticides, industrial waste, aquaculture, road de-icing salts, and alterations to natural buffering margins between salt and freshwater systems (Mimura, 2013; Hossain & Hasan, 2017; Canedo-Arguelles, Kefford & Schafer, 2019; Schuler et al., 2019). The total salt content is normally quantified by the weight in grams of the inorganic matter dissolved in one kilogram of water (Stumm & Morgan, 1996) and salinity is expressed in S ‰ [parts per thousand (ppt)]. It can also be measured by the electrical conductivity of the water, or specific conductance (measured in Siemens cm⁻¹ or mhos cm^{-1} ; Harris, 2009), which shows enormous variation globally (Fig. 2G).

It is well established that the quantity of salts present in the aquatic environment, as well as their variation, can affect the toxicity of pollutants to freshwater organisms (Hooper *et al.*, 2013; Borecka *et al.*, 2016; Bosker, Santoro & Melvin, 2017; Saranjampour, Vebrosky & Armbrust, 2017; Hasenbein *et al.*, 2018; Canedo-Arguelles *et al.*, 2019). This effect may occur due to changes in the solubility of the pollutant (e.g. pesticides), alterations to its chemical fate and transport, as well as *via* changes in the physiological responses of

organisms (i.e. osmoregulation, detoxification processes and toxicant sensitivity). Furthermore, high-salinity conditions also inevitably mean there are greater amounts of cations present, which can attach to plasma membrane binding sites and decrease the toxicity of xenobiotic chemicals like pharmaceuticals and insecticides (Hooper *et al.*, 2013; Borecka *et al.*, 2016; Bosker *et al.*, 2017; Saranjampour *et al.*, 2017; Hasenbein *et al.*, 2018).

Following exposure of Chlorella vulgaris to the drugs sulfapyridine, sulfamethoxazole, sulfadimethoxine, and trimethoprim, toxicity was reduced at higher salinities due specifically to higher levels of Na⁺ binding with available hydroxyl functional groups on the algal surface, reducing cell wall permeability to the drugs (Kulacki & Lamberti, 2008; Latała, Nedzi & Stepnowski, 2010; Borecka et al., 2016). By contrast, the pyrethroid insecticide bifenthrin had greater impacts on survival and swimming performance in H. azteca at higher salinity (Hasenbein et al., 2018) due to its influence on contaminant bioavailability (Saranjampour et al., 2017), interference with ion regulation, and heightened organismal sensitivity to the contaminant (Hooper et al., 2013; Bosker et al., 2017). For the pyrethroid insecticide deltamethrin, salinity/conductivity had no effect on toxicity in the invertebrates Ceriodaphnia cf. dubia and Paratya australiensis, or in eastern rainbow fish (Melanotaenia duboulayi) larvae (Thomas et al., 2008).

Salinity can also affect the route of uptake for chemicals. Teleost fish, and many invertebrates, are osmoregulators, meaning they maintain a relatively constant osmolality of their internal fluids in the face of large variations in external salinity (Marshall & Grosell, 2005). A key osmoregulatory mechanism as environmental salinity rises is a switch from low drinking rates in dilute fresh water, to very high rates in sea water (e.g. >10% of body mass per day in some marine fish), with the most dramatic increase above the iso-osmotic point (when internal and external osmolality are equal), which is around 10-12 ppt for most teleosts (Marshall & Grosell, 2005). As drinking rate increases so the gut becomes an increasingly important site of exposure to waterborne chemicals, together with the gills and skin. That this can influence the toxicity of chemicals is illustrated by studies on the uptake and impacts of various metals in fish and crustaceans (Wilson & Taylor, 1993a,b; Wood et al., 2004; Gerdes et al., 2005; Blanchard & Grosell, 2006; Capparelli, McNamara & Grosell, 2017).

Salinity is another variable that can influence TEP in fish (Potts & Eddy, 1973; Potts, 1984; Wood *et al.*, 2020), thereby affecting the electrochemical gradient across the gills and the uptake of charged molecules. Interestingly the effect of rising salinity on TEP is not due to the simultaneous change in external osmolality, but is rather related to the change in concentrations of major ions, in particular Na⁺ and Cl⁻ (Potts & Eddy, 1973; Wood & Grosell, 2008; Wood *et al.*, 2020). Specifically, for Na⁺ both the body fluid concentration and the gill permeability are higher than for Cl⁻. Thus a slightly greater outward diffusion of Na⁺ compared to Cl⁻ creates the negative TEP (inside relative to outside) typically seen

in freshwater fish. However, as external salinity increases, the diffusional loss of Na⁺ is slowed down (or reversed where external concentrations exceeds blood concentrations), making the TEP become less negative or even positive (e.g. in European flounder Platichthys flesus TEP changes from -78 mV in fresh water to +19 mV in sea water; Potts & Eddy, 1973). How these effects of salinity affect the uptake and toxicity of charged chemicals has not been investigated. It is worth noting that increased salination of freshwater environments is a growing concern (Herbert et al., 2015; Cañedo-Argüelles et al., 2016). One emerging multi-ion toxicity (MIT) model (EPRI, 2018) for assessing salt pollution assumes that the mechanism of toxicity is the disturbance of gill TEP as salinity increases (Wood et al., 2020). While the major inorganic ions have very different toxicities (a 28-fold range in LC50), the degree of disturbance of the TEP was extremely consistent for each ion when expressed as a percentage of its LC50 concentration (Wood et al., 2020).

(9) Dissolved organic matter

Organic matter in freshwater bodies originates from natural sources and from human, farm animal and agricultural wastes. Natural organic matter (NOM) represents a complex mixture of ill-defined biogenic organic molecules derived from the decomposition mainly of dead plant material, but also from animals and microbes and quantitatively (by mass concentration) often surpasses the inorganic components of natural fresh waters (Thurman, 1985; Tipping, 2002; Hartmann et al., 2019). Organic matter can bind toxic chemicals and thus influence their bioavailability, and concentrated discharges of organic matter can also affect chemical toxicity indirectly by reducing oxygen availability via their fertilising effect on microbial respiration. NOM can be divided into 'humic acids' (the high-molecular-mass colloidal component susceptible to flocculation) and 'fulvic acids' (the acid-soluble, low-molecular-mass non-colloidal component that resists flocculation); organic matter that cannot be extracted is called humin (Bleam, 2017). Humic and fulvic acids make up the majority of aquatic NOM with other bio-macromolecules such as carbohydrates, proteins and amino acids making up smaller portions (Thurman, 1985; Al-Reasi, Wood & Smith, 2011).

The dissolved fraction of NOM (dissolved organic matter, DOM), usually defined as the material able to pass through a 0.45 µm sieve, can interact with chemicals *via* a wide range of mechanisms including ion exchange, hydrogen bonding, charge transfer, covalent bonding, hydrophobic adsorption and partitioning, all of which can affect the distribution of different pollutants, and their bioconcentration as well as toxicity in water (Haitzer *et al.*, 1998; Qiao & Farrell, 2002; Zhang *et al.*, 2014; Chang & Bouchard, 2016; Ding *et al.*, 2018). Approximately half of DOM by mass is carbon, referred to as dissolved organic carbon (DOC; Tipping, 2002) and DOC is often the variable measured and reported. DOC varies greatly in natural waters (see Fig. 2D).

Humic acid has been shown to reduce the toxicity of triclosan in the freshwater alga Cymbella sp. (Ding et al., 2018): complexation or adsorption of triclosan causing reduced bioavailability. Zhang et al. (2014) found a variety of functional groups, such as -OH, -CONH₂, -CONH, alcohol, and carboxylic and carbonyl groups, on the surface of humic acids, which enabled interaction with hydroxyl groups in the triclosan molecule. Humic acids can also accumulate on the surface of algae to cause electrostatic repulsion between xenobiotics and the algal surface, thus inhibiting uptake (Tang et al., 2015). DOM has also been shown to reduce the toxicity of triclosan in the crustacean G. pulex, again due to complexation between triclosan and humic acid present in sewage effluent (Rowett et al., 2016). Similar effects have been reported in invertebrates for various pesticides. For example, toxicity of the insecticide deltamethrin was reduced for P. australiensis and Ceriodaphnia cf. dubia when exposed in river water (with organic matter) compared to laboratory water without organic matter (Thomas et al., 2008). In addition to sorptive processes being involved, increased degradation of deltamethrin by humus-mediated photosensitisation has been implicated for other pyrethroid insecticides (Jensen-Korte, Anderson & Spiteller, 1987), and/or by bacterial degradation of the compound (Das & Mukherjee, 1999).

The only study we found evaluating the effect of organic carbon on organic chemical toxicity in any aquatic vertebrate was for deltamethrin on larvae of the eastern rainbow fish (M. duboulayi), where there were no conclusive findings (Thomas et al., 2008). However, there is substantial evidence of DOM moderating the uptake as well as toxicity of many metals (e.g. Ag, Al, Cd, Co, Cu, Hg, Ni, Pb, Zn; Wood, 2011). Although the underlying basis for this protective effect of DOM is becoming more apparent, the precise molecular mechanisms involved are still less well-studied than for the natural inorganic components of fresh water. Nevertheless, both the quantity and quality (i.e. molecular composition) of DOM are important in its influence on toxicants. The optical properties of DOM are often used as a surrogate to characterise its molecular composition (e.g. using absorbance and fluorescence spectroscopy), with darker coloured DOM having a higher aromatic carbon content than lighter coloured DOM (Al-Reasi, Wood & Smith, 2013). Darker DOM has a higher proton-binding index (PBI) which is linked to greater protection against metal toxicity (Al-Reasi et al., 2013). Given that the chemical properties of the molecular groups within DOM vary, and these properties differentially influence the binding and toxicity of metals, it seems likely that such surrogate measures will prove useful in investigations of the influence of DOM on the toxicity of organic chemicals. Interestingly, the chemical signatures of the components of DOM may vary naturally in a reasonably predictable manner, for example as they do between naturally acidic, circumneutral and groundwater-fed freshwater systems in Australia (Holland et al., 2018). This could prove useful in targeting ecotoxicological risk assessments based on the environments that receive a particular toxic chemical.

Finally, DOC is another component of freshwater chemistry that is known to influence TEP in fish, and so also should affect the uptake of charged molecules by altering the electrochemical gradient between water and the blood. The effect on TEP is proportional to the aromaticity (= darkness in absorbance/spectrophotometric measurements) of the DOC at a given total concentration of organic carbon, both *in vivo* and *in vitro* using cultured gill cells (Wood, Al-Reasi & Smith, 2011; see Fig. 3C). However, as for pH and calcium, the effect of DOC on TEP has not yet been considered in an ecotoxicology context, and this remains an intriguing knowledge gap to fill in the future.

OECD test guidelines [Test Nos 202, 203, 210, 211, 212, 215, 229, 234, 235, 236 and 240 (OECD, 1998, 2000, 2004, 2011*b*,*c*, 2012*a*,*b*, 2013*a*,*b*, 2015, 2019)] recommend that total organic carbon concentration should be below 2 mg l^{-1} , however, measured concentrations have been shown to range between 1 and 10 mg l^{-1} (Chapman, 1996) in the freshwater environment, but in municipal wastewaters range from 10 to >100 mg l^{-1} (Chapman, 1996).

III. CONCLUSIONS

- (1) The interrelationship between the physico-chemistry of fresh waters and chemical toxicity relates both to (*i*) effects on the chemical to affect its form, fate and bioavailability in the water column/sediment, and (*ii*) effects on the organism's internal chemistry, physiology or behaviour. There are thus strong arguments for regulatory testing of chemicals to include conditions relevant to the natural environments occupied by the organisms we seek to protect. Water physico-chemistry may in turn affect the dynamics of pollutant transfer through trophic food webs with potentially more pervasive, or different, outcomes, but there is almost no information available with which to assess this.
- (2) Although various studies have demonstrated the potential for pollutants to alter the capacity of aquatic organisms to adapt to current and future physico-chemical environmental changes, fewer have addressed how altered climatic conditions in the future may affect the responses of freshwater organisms to pollutants. This will depend on the magnitude of changes in physico-chemical conditions, pollutant concentrations, and the capacity of organisms to acclimate. In all cases, organisms are less likely to be able to adapt where there are rapid and severe changes to water physico-chemistry.
- (3) Adaptations to altered water physico-chemistry may also affect other fitness traits and the ability of an organism to adapt to other changes in their environment. It is possible that direct effects of physicochemical changes in the environment may enhance the ability of some organisms to acclimate to pollutant exposures, although there are limited examples of such facilitating or stimulatory effects. Understanding the

capacity to adapt to future physico-chemical conditions in the context of susceptibility to pollution exposure is an important, and much needed area for future research for the protection of ecosystem health.

- (4) It is now possible to combine maps of global hotspots for individual chemicals, or classes of chemicals, using concentration data (exposure concentrations) collated from regional or national data repositories (e.g. EU WFD databases) with physico-chemical data sets for freshwater environments (e.g. global freshwater environmental variables; Domisch, Amatulli & Jetz, 2015; Hartmann *et al.*, 2014, 2019). This could allow us to identify areas of greatest concern regarding chemical toxicity in freshwater environments globally, and future predicted climatic conditions.
- (5) Using such data sets it will be possible to develop risk profiles for chemicals across global freshwater ecosystems accounting for the influence of water physicochemistry. Such risk profiles for specific chemicals could be derived from measured environmental concentrations collated from existing databases (e.g. GEMStat), toxicity assessments from laboratorybased studies using standardised tests conditions (UNEP, 2019), and other suitable data sources (e.g. ECOTOX Knowledgebase; US EPA, 2020). Realistic estimates of risk could be achieved through combining a range of different physico-chemical variables and obtaining more accurate information on how they alter toxicity. Such risk profiles could be extended to cocktails of chemicals. These analyses will require more complex methods, for example, modelling the physico-chemical variables as coefficients that influence the relative toxicity of a given pollutant, for which we would require additional information from detailed studies. The development of such global risk assessments could help us to rationalise the risk posed by pollution in the face of global environmental change.
- (6) We show herein that physico-chemical characteristics of freshwater ecosystems can have a strong influence on the toxicity of divergent chemicals, including pharmaceuticals, pesticides, metals and inorganic nitrogenous compounds. These influences result from effects on compound solubility, radical and complex formation, and on the sensitivity of an organism to toxicants, which can vary with ontogenetic stage and among species. Chemical hazard assessment therefore should be performed with greater consideration of how features of water physico-chemistry affect chemical toxicity in aquatic organisms and with more relevance to the natural water conditions in which these organisms live.

IV. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Dr Rob Ellis and Dr Anke Lange for discussions at the outset of this review. This work was funded by the Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP; Grants 2018/10790-2; 2016/08770-8 and 2014/16320-7), the Universidade de São Paulo and the University of Exeter.

V. REFERENCES

- ALONSO, A. & CAMARGO, J. A. (2008). Ameliorating effect of chloride on nitrite toxicity to freshwater invertebrates with different physiology: a comparative study between amphipods and planarians. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 54, 259–265.
- AL-REASI, H. A., WOOD, C. M. & SMITH, D. S. (2011). Physicochemical and spectroscopic properties of natural organic matter (NOM) from various sources and implications for ameliorative effects on metal toxicity to aquatic biota. *Aquatic Toxicology* 103(3), 179–190.
- AL-REASI, H. A., WOOD, C. M. & SMITH, D. S. (2013). Characterization of freshwater natural dissolved organic matter (DOM): mechanistic explanations for protective effects against metal toxicity and direct effects on organisms. *Environment International* 59, 201–207.
- ALSOP, D. & WILSON, J. Y. (2019). Waterborne pharmaceutical uptake and toxicity is modified by pH and dissolved organic carbon in zebrafish. *Aquatic Toxicology* 210, 11–18.
- AMIARD, J. & AMIARD-TRIQUET, C. (2015). Conventional risk assessment of environmental contaminants. In Advancing Tools for Dealing with Emerging Risks. Aquatic Ecotoxicology, pp. 25–49. Academic Press, London.
- BAHRS, H., PUTSCHEW, A. & STEINBERG, C. E. W. (2013). Toxicity of hydroquinone to different freshwater phototrophs is influenced by time of exposure and pH. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 20, 146–154.
- BALBUS, J. M., BOXALL, A. B., FENSKE, R. A., MCKONE, T. E. & ZEISE, L. (2013). Implications of global climate change for the assessment and management of human health risks of chemicals in the natural environment. *Environmental Toxicology* and Chemistry 32(1), 62–78.
- BALDISSEROTTO, B., MARTOS-SITCHA, J. A., MENEZES, C. C., TONI, C., PRATI, R. L., GARCIA, L. O., SALBEGO, J., MANCERA, J. M. & MARTÍNEZ-RODRÍGUEZ, G. (2014). The effects of ammonia and water hardness on the hormonal, osmoregulatory and metabolic responses of the freshwater silver catfish *Rhamdia quelen. Aquatic Toxicology* 152, 341–352.
- BENATEAU, S., GAUDARD, A., ŠTAMM, C. & ALTERMATT, F. (2019). Climate change and freshwater ecosystems: impacts on water quality and ecological status. In *Hydro-CH2018 Project*, p. 110. Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), Bern.
- BITTNER, L., TEIXIDO, E., SEIWERT, B., ESCHER, B. I. & KLUVER, N. (2018). Influence of pH on the uptake and toxicity of beta-blockers in embryos of zebrafish, *Danio rerio. Aquatic Toxicology* 201, 129–137.
- BLANCHARD, J. & GROSELL, M. (2006). Copper toxicity across salinities from freshwater to seawater in the euryhaline fish *Fundulus heteroclitus*: is copper an ionoregulatory toxicant in high salinities? *Aquatic Toxicology* **80**(2), 131–139.
- BLEAM, W. F. (2017). Soil and Environmental Chemistry. Academic Press, London.
- BLUME, K. K., MACEDO, J. C., MENEGUZZI, A., SILVA, L.B., QUEVEDO, D. M. & RODRIGUES, M. A. S. (2010). Water quality assessment of the Sinos River, southern Brazil. *Brazilian Journal of Biology* **70**(4), 1185–1193.
- BOECKMAN, C. J. & BIDWELL, J. R. (2006). The effects of temperature, suspended solids, and organic carbon on copper toxicity to two aquatic invertebrates. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution* **171**, 185–202.
- BORECKA, M., BIAłK-BIELINSKA, A., HALINSKI, Ł. P., PAZDRO, K., STEPNOWSKI, P. & STOLTE, S. (2016). The influence of salinity on the toxicity of selected sulfonamides and trimethoprim towards the green algae *Chlorella vulgaris*. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **308**, 179–186.
- BOSKER, T., SANTORO, G. & MELVIN, S. D. (2017). Salinity and sensitivity to endocrine disrupting chemicals: a comparison of reproductive endpoints in smallbodied fish exposed under different salinities. *Chemosphere* 183, 186–196.
- BOSTROM, M. L. & BERGLUND, O. (2015). Influence of pH-dependent aquatic toxicity of ionizable pharmaceuticals on risk assessments over environmental pH ranges. *Water Research* 72, 154–161.
- BRAUNER, C. J., SHARTAU, R. B., DAMSGAARD, C., ESBAUGH, A. J., WILSON, R. W. & GROSELL, M. (2019). Acid-base physiology and CO₂ homeostasis: regulation and compensation in response to elevated environmental CO₂. In *Fish Physiology* (eds M. GROSELL, P. L. MUNDAY, A. P. FARRELL and C. J. BRAUNER), pp. 69–132. Academic Press, Cambridge.
- BROWN, A. R., OWEN, S. F., PETERS, J., ZHANG, Y., SOFFKER, M., PAULL, G. C., HOSKEN, D. J., WAHAB, M. A. & TYLER, C. R. (2015). Climate change and pollution speed declines in zebrafish populations. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112(11), E1237–E1246.

- BUNKE, D., MORITZ, S., BRACK, W., HERRÁEZ, D. L., POSTHUMA, L. & NUSS, M. (2019). Developments in society and implications for emerging pollutants in the aquatic environment. *Environmental Sciences Europe* **31**, 32.
- CAMERON, J. N. (1986). Principles of Physiological Measurement, p. 278. Academic Press Inc., London.
- CAÑEDO-ARGÜELLES, M., HAWKINS, C. P., KEFFORD, B. J., SCHÄFER, R. B., DYACK, B. J., BRUCET, S., BUCHWALTER, D., DUNLOP, J., FRÖR, O., LAZORCHAK, J. & CORING, E. (2016). Saving freshwater from salts. *Science* 351, 914–916.
- CANEDO-ARGUELLES, M., KEFFORD, B. & SCHAFER, R. (2019). Salt in freshwaters: causes, effects and prospects - introduction to the theme issue. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **374**(1764), 1–6.
- CAPPARELLI, M. V., MCNAMARA, J. C. & GROSELL, M. (2017). Effects of waterborne copper delivered under two different exposure and salinity regimes on osmotic and ionic regulation in the mudflat fiddler crab, *Minuca rapax* (Ocypodidae, Brachyura). *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* 143, 201–209.
- CARNEIRO, P. C. F., SWAROFSKY, E. C., SOUZA, D. P. E., CESAR, T. M. R., BAGLIOLI, B. & BALDISSEROTTO, B. (2009). Ammonia-, sodium chloride-, and calcium sulfate-induced changes in the stress responses of jundia, *Rhamdia quelen*, juveniles. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society* **40**(6), 810–817.
- CHANG, X. J. & BOUCHARD, D. C. (2016). Surfactant-wrapped multiwalled carbon nanotubes in aquatic systems: surfactant displacement in the presence of humic acid. *Environmental Science & Technology* **50**, 9214–9222.
- CHAPMAN, D. V. (1996). Water quality assessments: a guide to the use of biota, sediments and water in environmental monitoring. In *World Health Organization, Unesco & United Nations Environment Programme* (ed. D. CHAPMAN). E & FN Spon, London.
- DAS, A. C. & MUKHERJEE, D. (1999). Influence of BHC and fenvalerate on mineralisation and availability of some plant nutrients in soil. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 62, 371–376.
- DE BOEK, G., VLAEMINCK, A., VAN DER LINDEN, A. & BLUST, R. (2000). The energy metabolism of common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) when exposed to salt stress: an increase in energy expenditure or effects of starvation? *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 73, 102–111.
- DE SCHAMPHELAERE, K. A., VASCONCELOS, F. M., TACK, F. M. G., ALLEN, H. E. & JANSSEN, C. R. (2004). Effect of dissolved organic matter source on acute copper toxicity to Daphnia magna. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 23, 1248–1255.
- DEL PIERO, S., MASIERO, L. & CASELLATO, S. (2012). Influence of temperature on fluoride toxicity and bioaccumulation in the nonindigenous freshwater mollusk *Dreissena polymorpha* Pallas, 1769. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 31, 2567–2571.
- DI LORENZO, T., DI MARZIO, W. D., CIFONI, M., FIASCA, B., BARATTI, M., SÁENZ, M. E. & GALASSI, D. M. P. (2015). Temperature effect on the sensitivity of the copepod *Eucyclops servulatus* (Crustacea, Copepoda, Cyclopoida) to agricultural pollutants in the hyporheic zone. *Current Zoology* 61(4), 629–640.
- DI TORO, D. M., ALLEN, H. E., BERGMAN, H. L., MEYER, J. S., PAQUIN, P. R. & SANTORE, R. C. (2001). Biotic ligand model of the acute toxicity of metals. 1. Technical basis. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: An International Journal* 20 (10), 2383–2396.
- DIAZ, R. J. & BREITBURG, D. L. (2009). The hypoxic environment. In *Fish Physiology* (eds J. G. RICHARDS, A. P. FARELL and C. J. BRAUNER), pp. 1–23.Academic Press, Cambridge.
- DING, T., LIN, K., BAO, L., YANG, M., LI, J., YANG, B. & GAN, J. (2018). Biouptake, toxicity and biotransformation of triclosan in diatom *Cymbella* sp. and the influence of humic acid. *Environmental Pollution* 234, 231–242.
- DOMISCH, S., AMATULLI, G. & JETZ, W. (2015). Near-global freshwater-specific environmental variables for biodiversity analyses in 1 km resolution. *Scientific Data* 2, 150073.
- DU, S. N. N., MCCALLUM, E. S., VASEGHI-SHANJANI, M., CHOI, J. A., WARRINER, T. R., BALSHINE, S. & SCOTT, G. R. (2018). Metabolic costs of exposure to wastewater effluent Lead to compensatory adjustments in respiratory physiology in bluegill sunfish. *Environmental Science & Technology* 52(2), 801–811.
- EDDY, F. B. (1975). The effect of calcium on gill potentials and on sodium and chloride fluxes in the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. *Journal of Comparative Physiology* 96(2), 131–142.
- EPRI (2018). Multi-ion toxicity review: data analysis and ongoing model framework development. Electronic file available at https://www.epri.com/#/pages/ product/00000003002013924/?lang=en-US Accessed 18.01.2021.
- ERICKSON, R. J., MCKIM, J. M., LIEN, G. J., HOFFMAN, A. D. & BATTERMAN, S. L. (2006a). Uptake and elimination of ionizable organic chemicals at fish gills: I. Model formulation, parameterization, and behavior. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 25(6), 1512–1521.
- ERICKSON, R. J., MCKIM, J. M., LIEN, G. J., HOFFMAN, A. D. & BATTERMAN, S. L. (2006b). Uptake and elimination of ionizable organic chemicals at fish gills: II. Observed and predicted effects of pH, alkalinity, and chemical properties. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 25(6), 1522–1532.
- ESBAUGH, A. J., MAGER, E. M., BRIX, K. V., SANTORE, R. & GROSELL, M. (2013). Implications of pH manipulation methods for metal toxicity: not all acidic environments are created equal. *Aquatic Toxicology* **130**, 27–30.

- EVANS, D. H. (2008). Teleost fish osmoregulation: what have we learned since august Krogh, Homer Smith, and Ancel keys. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory* Integrative and Comparative Physiology 295(2), R704–R713.
- FAHL, G. M., KREFT, L., ALTENBURGER, R., FAUST, M., BOEDEKER, W. & GRIMME, L. H. (1995). pH-dependent sorption, bioconcentration and algal toxicity of sulfonylurea herbicides. *Aquatic Toxicology* 31(2), 175–187.
- FENG, Z., SU, B., XIAO, D. D. & YE, L. Y. (2017). Study on pH value and its variation characteristics of the main rivers into Dianchi lake under the anthropogenic and natural processes, Yunnan, China. *Journal of Information and Optimization Sciences* 38 (7), 1197–1210.
- FERREIRA, F. W., CUNHA, R. B. & BALDISSEROTTO, B. (2013). The survival and growth of juvenile silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*, exposed to different NH₃ and hardness levels. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society* 44(2), 293–299.
- FIGUEROA-LUCERO, G., HERNÁNDEZ-RUBIO, M. C. & GUTIÉRREZ-LADRÓN DE GUEVARA, M. J. (2012). Acute toxicity of ammonia on Macrobrachium tenellum (Smith) larvac. Revista Internacional de Contaminación Ambiental 28(2), 145–150.
- FITZGERALD, J. A., JAMESON, H. M., FOWLER, V. H. D., BOND, G. L., BICKLEY, L. K., WEBSTER, T. M. U., BURY, N. R., WILSON, R. J. & SANTOS, E. M. (2016). Hypoxia suppressed copper toxicity during early development in zebrafish embryos in a process mediated by the activation of the HIF signaling pathway. *Environmental Science & Technology* **50**(8), 4502–4512.
- FITZGERALD, J. A., KATSIADAKI, I. & SANTOS, E. M. (2017). Contrasting effects of hypoxia on copper toxicity during development in the three-spined stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*). *Environmental Pollution* 222, 433–443.
- FITZGERALD, J. A., URBINA, M. G., ROGERS, N. J., BURY, N. R., KATSIADAKI, I., WILSON, R. W. & SANTOS, E. M. (2019). Sublethal exposure to copper supresses the ability to acclimate to hypoxia in a model fish species. *Aquatic Toxicology* 217, 105325.
- FREEMAN, L., BEITINGER, T. L. & HUEY, D. W. (1983). Methemoglobin reductaseactivity in phylogenetically diverse piscine species. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B - Biochemistry & Molecular Biology 75(1), 27–30.
- FREITAS, J. S., KUPSCO, A., DIAMANTE, G., FELICIO, A. A., ALMEIDA, E. A. & SCHLENK, D. (2016). Influence of temperature on the thyroidogenic effects of Diuron and its metabolite 3, 4-DCA in tadpoles of the American bullfrog (*Lithobates catesbeianus*). *Environmental Science & Technology* 50(23), 13095–13104.
- GERDES, R., CAI, Y., SOLO-GABRIELE, H. & GROSELL, M. (2005). Mixed exposure of Fundulus heteroclitus to copper, arsenic and chromium at different salinities. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A - Molecular & Integrative Physiology 141(3), S200.
- GILMOUR, K. M. & PERRY, S. F. (2018). Conflict and compromise: using reversible remodeling to manage competing physiological demands at the fish gill. *Physiology* (*Bethesda*) 33(6), 412–422.
- GROSELL, M. (2011). Copper. In *Fish Physiology* (eds C. M. WOOD, A. P. FARRELL and C. J. BRAUNER), pp. 53–133. Academic Press, Cambridge.
- GUNNARSSON, L., SNAPE, J. R., VERBRUGGEN, B., OWEN, S. F., KRISTIANSSON, E., MARGIOTTA-CASALUCI, L., ÖSTERLUND, T., HUTCHINSON, K., LEVERETT, D., MARKS, B. & TYLER, C. R. (2019). Pharmacology beyond the patient - the environmental risks of human drugs. *Environment International* 129, 320–332.
- HAITZER, M., HÖSS, S., TRAUNSPURGER, W. & STEINBERG, C. (1998). Effects of dissolved organic matter (DOM) on the bioconcentration of organic chemicals in aquatic organisms—a review. *Chemosphere* 37(7), 1335–1362.
- HARITASH, A. K., GAUR, S. & GARG, S. (2016). Assessment of water quality and suitability analysis of river ganga in Rishikesh, India. *Applied Water Science* 6, 383–392.HARRIS, G. (2009). Salinity in inland waters. In *Encyclopedia of Inland Waters*, pp. 79–84. Academic Press, Cambridge.
- HARTMANN, J., LAUERWALD, R. & MOOSDORF, N. (2014). A brief overview of the GLObal RIver CHemistry database, GLORICH: geochemistry of the Earth's surface Ges-10. Procedia Earth and Planetary Science 10, 23–27.
- HARTMANN, J., LAUERWALD, R. & MOOSDORF, N. (2019). GLORICH global river chemistry database, supplement to: Hartmann, J et al. (2014): a brief overview of the GLObal RIver Chemistry database, GLORICH. Procedia Earth and Planetary Science 10, 23–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeps.2014.08.005.
- HARWOOD, A. D., YOU, J. & LYDY, M. J. (2009). Temperature as a toxicity identification evaluation tool for pyrethroid insecticides: toxicokinetic confirmation. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 28, 1051–1058.
- HASENBEIN, S., POYNTON, H. & CONNON, R. E. (2018). Contaminant exposure effects in a changing climate: how multiple stressors can multiply exposure effects in the amphipod *Hyalella azteca. Ecotoxicology* 277, 845–859.
- HERBERT, E. R., BOON, P., BURGIN, A. J., NEUBAUER, S. C., FRANKLIN, R. B., ARDÓN, M., HOPFENSPERGER, K. N., LAMERS, L. P. M. & GELL, P. (2015). A global perspective on wetland salinization: ecological consequences of a growing threat to freshwater wetlands. *Ecosphere* 6, 1–43.
- HOLLAND, A., STAUBER, J., WOOD, C. M., TRENFIELD, M. & JOLLEY, D. F. (2018). Dissolved organic matter signatures vary between naturally acidic, circumneutral and groundwater-fed freshwaters in Australia. *Water Research* 137, 184–192.
- HOOPER, M. J., ANKLEY, G. T., CRISTOL, D. A., MARYOUNG, L. A., NOYES, P. D. & PINKERTON, K. E. (2013). Interactions between chemical and climate stressors: a

role for mechanistic toxicology in assessing climate change risks. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 32, 32-48.

- HOSSAIN, M. A. R. & HASAN, M. R. (2017). An assessment of impacts from shrimp aquaculture in Bangladesh and prospects for improvement. In FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical, p. 96. FAO, Rome.
- HUNDT, M., SCHREIEER, B., ECKMANN, R., LUNESTAD, B. T., WÜNNEMAN, H. & SCHULZ, R. (2016). The effect of water hardness on mortality of zebrafish (Danio rerio) during exposure to oxytetracycline. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 96(2), 144–149.
- HWANG, P. P. & LEE, T. H. (2007). New insights into fish ion regulation and mitochondrion-rich cells. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 148(3), 479–497.
- IBANEZ, J. G., HERNANDEZ-ESPARZA, M., DORIA-SERRANO, C., FREGOSO-INFANTE, A. & SINGH, M. M. (2007). Effects of pollutants on the biosphere: biodegradability, toxicity, and risks. In *Environmental Chemistry: Fundamentals*, pp. 198–236.Springer, New York.
- INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR CONSERVATION OF NATURE AND NATURAL RESOURCES - IUCN (2009). The IUCN red list of threatened species 2009. Electronic file available at https://www.iucnredlist.org/resources/summarystatistics Accessed 15.01.2021.
- INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR CONSERVATION OF NATURE AND NATURAL RESOURCES - IUCN (2020). The IUCN red list of threatened species 2020. Electronic file available at www.iucnredlist.org/statistics Accessed 15.01.2021.
- JENNY, J. P., FRANCUS, P., NORMANDEAU, A., LAPOINTE, F., PERGA, M.-E., OJALA, A., SCHIMMELMANN, A. & ZOLITSCHKA, B. (2016). Global spread of hypoxia in freshwater ecosystems during the last three centuries is caused by rising local human pressure. *Global Change Biology* 22(4), 1481–1489.
- JENSEN, F. B. (2003). Nitrite disrupts multiple physiological functions in aquatic animals. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 135(1), 9–24.
- JENSEN, F. B. (1996). Uptake, elimination and effects of nitrite and nitrate in freshwater crayfish (Astacus astacus). Aquatic Toxicology 34(2), 95–104.
- JENSEN-KORTE, U., ANDERSON, C. & SPITELLER, M. (1987). Photodegradation of pesticides in the presence of humus substances. *Science of the Total Environment* 62, 335–340.
- KARLSSON, M. V., CARTER, L. J., AGATZ, A. & BOXALL, A. B. (2017). Novel approach for characterizing pH-dependent uptake of ionizable chemicals in aquatic organisms. *Environmental Science & Technology* 51(12), 6965–6971.
- KHATIKARN, J., SATAPORNVANIT, K., PRICE, O. R. & VAN DEN BRINK, P. J. (2018). Effects of triclosan on aquatic invertebrates in tropics and the influence of pH on its toxicity on microalgae. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 25, 13244–13253.
- KIM, J., PARK, J., KIM, P., LEE, C., CHOI, K. & CHOI, K. (2010). Implication of global environmental changes on chemical toxicity-effect of water temperature, pH, and ultraviolet B irradiation on acute toxicity of several pharmaceuticals in *Daphnia magna*. Ecotoxicology 19, 662–669.
- KNILLMANN, S., STAMPFLI, N. C., NOSKOV, Y. A., BEKETOV, M. A. & LIESS, M. (2013). Elevated temperature prolongs long-term effects of a pesticide on *Daphnia* spp. due to altered competition in zooplankton communities. *Global Change Biology* **19**, 1598–1609.
- KULACKI, K. J. & LAMBERTI, G. A. (2008). Toxicity of imidazolium ionic liquids to freshwater algae. Green Chemistry 10, 104–110.
- LANDRIGAN, P. J., FULLER, R., ACOSTA, N. J. R., ADEYI, O., ARNOLD, R., BASU, N., BALDÉ, A. B., BERTOLLINI, R., BOSE-O'REILLY, S., BOUFFORD, J. I., BREYSSE, P. N., CHILES, T., MAHIDOL, C., COLL-SECK, A. M., CROPPER, M. L., et al. (2018). The lancet commission on pollution and health. *The Lancet* 391, 462–512.
- LARSEN, B. K., PORTNER, H. O. & JENSEN, F. B. (1997). Extra and intracellular acidbase balance and ionic regulation in cod (*Gadus morhua*) during combined and isolated exposures to hypercapnia and copper. *Marine Biology* **128**(2), 337–346.
- LARSEN, B. K. & JENSEN, F. B. (1997). Influence of ionic composition on acid-base regulation in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) exposed to environmental hypercapnia. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry* 16, 157–170.
- LATAła, A., NEDZI, M. & STEPNOWSKI, P. (2010). Toxicity of imidazolium ionic liquids towards alga. Influence of salinity variations. *Green Chemistry* 12, 60–64.
- LAUREN, D. J. & MCDONALD, D. G. (1985). Effects of copper on branchial ionoregulation in the rainbow-trout, Salmo gairdneri Richardson - modulation by water hardness and pH. Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical Systemic and Environmental Physiology 155(5), 635–644.
- LE PAGE, G., GUNNARSSON, L., TRZNADEL, M., WEDGWOOD, K. C. A., BAUDROT, V., SNAPE, J. & TYLER, C. R. (2019). Variability in cyanobacteria sensitivity to antibiotics and implications for environmental risk assessment. *Science* of the Total Environment 695, 133804.
- LEWIS, C., ELLIS, R. P., VERNON, E., ELLIOT, K., NEWBATT, S. & WILSON, R. W. (2016) Ocean acidification increases copper toxicity differentially in two key marine invertebrates with distinct acid-base responses. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 21554. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep21554.

- LIU, M., SONG, Y., XU, T., XU, Z., WANG, T., YIN, L., JIA, X. & TANG, J. (2020). Trends of precipitation acidification and determining factors in China during 2006–2015. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres* 125(6), e2019JD031301.
- LONG, K. E., VAN GENDEREN, E. J. & KLAINE, S. J. (2004). The effects of low hardness and pH on copper toxicity to *Daphnia magna*. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 23, 72–75.
- LUBIANA, P., PROKKOLA, J. M., NIKINMAA, M., BURMESTER, T., KANERVA, M. & GÖTTING, M. (2016). The effects of the painkiller diclofenac and hypoxia on gene transcription and antioxidant system in the gills of three-spined stickleback. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology* 185–186, 147–154.
- MABERLY, S. C. (1996). Diel, episodic and seasonal changes in pH and concentrations of inorganic carbon in a productive lake. *Freshwater Biology* 35(3), 579–598.
- MACDONALD, R. W., HARNER, T. & FYFE, J. (2005). Recent climate change in the Arctic and its impact on contaminant pathways and interpretation of temporal trend data. *Science of the Total Environment* 342, 5–86.
- MARCHAND, P. A., STRAUS, D. L., WIENKE, A., PEDERSEN, L. F. & MEINELT, T. (2013). Effect of water hardness on peracetic acid toxicity to zebrafish, *Danio rerio*, embryos. *Aquaculture International* 21, 679–686.
- MARSHALL, W. S. & GROSELL, M. (2005). Ion transport, osmoregulation, and acidbase balance in homeostasis and reproduction. In *The Physiology of Fishes* (eds D. H. EVANS and J. B. CLAIBORNE), pp. 177–210.CRC Press, Boca Raton.
- MARTINS, A., GUIMARÃES, L. & GUILHERMINO, L. (2013). Chronic toxicity of the veterinary antibiotic florfenicol to Daphnia magna assessed at two temperatures. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology* 36, 1022–1032.
- MCKIM, J. M. & ERICKSON, R. J. (1991). Environmental impacts on the physiological mechanisms controlling xenobiotic transfer across fish gills. *Physiological Zoology* 64(1), 39–67.
- MCKIM, J., SCHMIEDER, P. & VEITH, G. (1985). Absorption dynamics of organic chemical transport across trout gills as related to octanol-water partition coefficient. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 77, 1–10.
- MCWILLIAMS, P. G. & POTTS, W. T. W. (1978). The effects of pH and calcium concentrations on gill potentials in the brown trout, *Salmo trutta. Journal of Comparative Physiology* **126**(3), 277–286.
- MEINSHAUSEN, M., SMITH, S. J., CALVIN, K., DANIEL, J. S., KAINUMA, M. L. T., LAMARQUE, J. F., MATSUMOTO, K., MONTZKA, S. A., RAPER, S. C. B., RIAHI, K., THOMSON, A., VELDERS, G. J. M. & VAN VUUREN, D. P. P. (2011). The RCP greenhouse gas concentrations and their extensions from 1765 to 2300. *Climatic Change* 109(1–2), 213–241.
- MELZNER, F., GUTOWSKA, M. A., LANGENBUCH, M., DUPONT, S., LUCASSEN, M., THORNDYKE, M. C., BLEICH, M. & PORTNER, H. O. (2009). Physiological basis for high CO₂ tolerance in marine ectothermic animals: pre-adaptation through lifestyle and ontogeny? *Biogeosciences* 6(10), 2313–2331.
- MIMURA, N. (2013). Sea-level rise caused by climate change and its implications for society. Proceedings of the Japan Academy. Series B, Physical and Biological Sciences 89(7), 281–301.
- NAKAMURA, Y., YAMAMOTO, H., SEKIZAWA, J., KONDO, T., HIRAI, N. & TATARAZAKO, N. (2008). The effects of pH on fluoxetine in Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*): acute toxicity in fish larvae and bioaccumulation in juvenile fish. *Chemosphere* **70**, 865–873.
- NAMIESNIK, J. & RABAJCZYK, A. (2010). The speciation and physico-chemical forms of metals in surface waters and sediments. *Chemical Speciation & Bioavailability* 22(1), 1–24.
- NARAHASHI, T. (2002). Nerve membrane ion channels as the target site of insecticides. Mini-Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry 2(4), 419–432.
- NEUWOEHNER, J. & ESCHER, B. I. (2011). The pH-dependent toxicity of basic pharmaceuticals in the green algae *Scenedesmus vacuolatus* can be explained with a toxicokinetic ion-trapping model. *Aquatic Toxicology* **101**, 266–275.
- NIENIE, B., SIVALINGAM, P., LAFFITE, A., NGELINKOTO, P., OTAMONGA, J. P., MATAND, A., MULAJI, C., MUBEDI, J., MPIANA, P. T. & POTÉ, J. (2017). Seasonal variability of water quality by physicochemical indexes and traceable metals in suburban area in Kikwit, Democratic Republic of the Congo. *International Soil and Water Conservation Research* 5(2), 158–165.
- NIETO, E., HAMPEL, M., GONZÁLEZ-ÖRTEGÓN, E., DRAKE, P. & BLASCO, J. (2016). Influence of temperature on toxicity of single pharmaceuticals and mixtures, in the crustacean A. desmarestii. Journal of Hazardous Materials 313(5), 159–169.
- NILSSON, G. E., DYMOWSKA, A. & STECYK, J. A. W. (2012). New insights into the plasticity of gill structure. *Respiratory Physiology & Neurobiology* 184(3), 214–222.
- NORBERG-KING, T. J., EMBRY, M. R., BELANGER, S. E., BRAUNBECK, T., BUTLER, J. D., DORN, P. B., FARR, B., GUINEY, P. D., HUGHES, S. A., JEFFRIES, M., JOURNEL, R., LÉONARD, M., MCMASTER, M., ORIS, J. T., RYDER, K., et al. (2018). An international perspective on the tools and concepts for effluent toxicity assessments in the context of animal alternatives: reduction in vertebrate use. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 37(11), 2745–2757.
- OECD (1998). Test No. 212: Fish, Short-term Toxicity Test on Embryo and Sac-Fry Stages, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2, OECD Publishing, Paris.

Electronic file available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-212-fish-short-term-toxicity-test-on-embryo-and-sac-fry-stages_9789264070141-en Accessed 05.11.2019.

- OECD (2000). Test No. 215: Fish, Juvenile Growth Test, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2, OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https:// www.occd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-215-fish-juvenile-growth-test_ 9789264070202-en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OECD (2004). Test No. 202: Daphnia sp. Acute Immobilisation Test, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2, OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-202-daphnia-sp-acuteimmobilisation-test_9789264069947-en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OECD (2011a). Test.No. 201: Freshwater Alga and Cyanobacteria, Growth Inhibition Test, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2. OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/testno-201-alga-growth-inhibition-test_9789264069923-en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OECD (2011b). Test No. 234: Fish Sexual Development Test, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2, OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https:// www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-234-fish-sexual-development-test_ 9789264122369-en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OECD (2011c). Test No. 235: Chironomus sp., Acute Immobilisation Test, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2, OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-235-chironomus-sp-acuteimmobilisation-test_9789264122383-en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OECD (2012a). Test No. 211: Daphnia magna Reproduction Test, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2. OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-211-daphnia-magnareproduction-test 9789264185203-en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OECD (2012b). Test No. 229: Fish Short Term Reproduction Assay, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2, OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-229-fish-short-termreproduction-assay 9789264185265-en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OECD (2013a). Test No. 210: Fish, Early-life Stage Toxicity Test, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2. OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-210-fish-carly-life-stagetoxicity-test 9789264203785-en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OECD (2013b). Test.No. 236: Fish Embryo Acute Toxicity (FET) Test, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2, OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-236-fish-embryo-acutetoxicity-fet-test_9789264203709-en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OECD (2015). Test No. 240: Medaka Extended One Generation Reproduction Test (MEOGRT), OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2, OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-240-medaka-extended-one-generation-reproduction-test-meogrt_9789264242258en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OECD (2019). Test No. 203: Fish, Acute Toxicity Test, OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Section 2, OECD Publishing, Paris. Electronic file available at https:// www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-203-fish-acute-toxicity-test_ 9789264069961-en Accessed 05.11.2019.
- OP DE BEECK, L., VERHEYEN, J., OLSEN, K. & STOKS, R. (2017). Negative effects of pesticides under global warming can be counteracted by a higher degradation rate and thermal adaptation. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 54, 1847–1855.
- PATRA, R. W., CHAPMAN, J. C., LIM, R. P., GEHRKE, P. C. & SUNDERAM, R. M. (2015). Interactions between water temperature and contaminant toxicity to freshwater fish. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 34, 1809–1817.
- PEARCY, K., ELPHICK, J. & BURNETT-SEIDEL, C. (2015). Toxicity of fluoride to aquatic species and evaluation of toxicity modifying factors. *Environmental Toxicology* and Chemistry 34, 1642–1648.
- POTTS, W. T. W. (1984). Transepithelial potentials in fish gills. In *Fish Physiology* (eds W. S. HOAR and D. J. RANDALL), pp. 105–128. Academic Press, Cambridge.
- POTTS, W. T. W. & EDDY, F. B. (1973). Gill potentials and sodium fluxes in the flounder *Platichthys flesus. Journal of Comparative Physiology* 87, 20–48.
- PROKKOLA, J. M., NIKINMAA, M., LUBIANA, P., KANERVA, M., MCCAIRNS, R. J. S. & GOTTING, M. (2015). Hypoxia and the pharmaceutical diclofenac influence the circadian responses of three-spined stickleback. *Aquatic Toxicology* 158, 116–124.
- QIAO, P. & FARRELL, A. P. (2002). Influence of dissolved humic acid on hydrophobic chemical uptake in juvenile rainbow trout. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part* C: Toxicology & Pharmacology 133(4), 575–585.
- RANDALL, D. J. (1990). Control and co-ordination of gas exchange in water breathers. In Advances in Comparative and Environmental Physiology (ed. R. G. BOUTILIER), pp. 253– 278.Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- RAYMOND, P. A., HARTMANN, J., LAUERWALD, R., SOBEK, S., MCDONALD, C., HOOVER, M., BUTMAN, D., STRIEGL, R., MAYORGA, E., HUMBORG, C., KORTELAINEN, P., DURR, H., MEYBECK, M., CIAIS, P. & GUTH, P. (2013). Global carbon dioxide emissions from inland waters. *Nature* 503(7476), 355–359.

- REID, G. M., MACBEATH, T. C. & CSATÁDI, K. (2013). Global challenges in freshwater-fish conservation related to public aquariums and the aquarium industry. *International Zoo Yearbook* 47(1), 6–45.
- ROTHWELL, J. J., DISE, N. B., TAYLOR, K. G., ALLOTT, T. E. H., SCHOLEFIELD, P., DAVIES, H. & NEAL, C. (2010). A spatial and seasonal assessment of river water chemistry across north West England. *Science of the Total Environment* 408, 841–855.
- ROWETT, C. J., HUTCHINSON, T. H. & COMBER, S. D. (2016). The impact of natural and anthropogenic dissolved organic carbon (DOC), and pH on the toxicity of triclosan to the crustacean *Gammarus pulex* (L.). *Science of the Total Environment* 565, 222–231.
- RUDEN, C., ADAMS, J., AGERSTRAND, M., BROCK, T. C., POULSEN, V., SCHLEKAT, C. E., WHEELER, J. R. & HENRY, T. R. (2017). Assessing the relevance of ecotoxicological studies for regulatory decision making. *Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management* 13, 652–663.
- SAARI, G. N., HADDAD, S. P., MOLE, R. M., HILL, B. N., STEELE, W. B., LOVIN, L. M., CHAMBLISS, C. K. & BROOKS, B. W. (2020). Low dissolved oxygen increases uptake of a model calcium channel blocker and alters its effects on adult *Pimephales promelas. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology* 231, 108719.
- SAPAROV, S. M., ANTONENKO, Y. N. & POHL, P. (2006). A new model of weak acid permeation through membranes revisited: does Overton still rule? *Biophysical Journal* 90, L86–L88.
- SARANJAMPOUR, P., VEBROSKY, E. N. & ARMBRUST, K. L. (2017). Salinity impacts on water solubility and n-octanol/water partition coefficients of selected pesticides and oil constituents. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 36(9), 2274–2280.
- SCHIEDEK, D., SUNDELIN, B., READMAN, J. W. & MACDONALD, R. W. (2007). Interactions between climate change and contaminants. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 54 (12), 1845–1856.
- SCHINDLER, D. W. (1988). Effects of acid-rain on fresh-water ecosystems. Science 239 (4836), 149–157.
- SCHULER, M. S., CANEDO-ARGUELLES, M., HINTZ, W. D., DYACK, B., BIRK, S. & RELYEA, R. A. (2019). Regulations are needed to protect freshwater ecosystems from salinization. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 374 (1764), 1–9.
- SEELAND, A., ALBRAND, J., OEHLMANN, J. & MÜLLER, R. (2013). Life stage-specific effects of the fungicide pyrimethanil and temperature on the snail *Physella acuta* (Draparnaud, 1805) disclose the pitfalls for the aquatic risk assessment under global climate change. *Environmental Pollution* **174**, 1–9.
- SEELAND, A., OEHLMANN, J. & MÜLLER, R. (2012). Aquatic ecotoxicity of the fungicide pyrimethanil: effect profile under optimal and thermal stress conditions. *Environmental Pollution* 168, 161–169.
- SIERATOWICZ, A., STANGE, D., SCHULTE-OEHLMANN, U. & OEHLMANN, J. (2011). Reproductive toxicity of bisphenol a and cadmium in *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* and modulation of bisphenol a effects by different test temperature. *Environmental Pollution* 159, 2766–2774.
- SOUCEK, D. J., LINTON, T. K., TARR, C. D., DICKINSON, A., WICKRAMANAYAKE, N., DELOS, C. G. & CRUZ, L. A. (2011). Influence of water hardness and sulfate on the acute toxicity of chloride to sensitive freshwater invertebrates. *Environmental Toxicology* and Chemistry **30**(4), 930–938.
- STEHLY, G. R. & HAYTON, W. L. (1990). Effect of pH on the accumulation kinetics of pentachlorophenol in goldfish. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 19, 464–470.
- STUMM, W. & MORGAN, J. J. (1996). Aquatic Chemistry: Chemical Equilibria and Rates in Natural Waters, p. 96. Wiley, New York.
- SUN, L., RUAN, J., LU, M., CHEN, M., DAI, Z. & ZUO, Z. (2019). Combined effects of ocean acidification and crude oil pollution on tissue damage and lipid metabolism in embryo–larval development of marine medaka (*Oryzias melastigma*). *Environmental Geochemistry and Health* **41**, 1847–1860.
- SUNDARAM, R., SMITH, B. W. & CLARK, T. M. (2015). pH-dependent toxicity of serotonin selective reuptake inhibitors in taxonomically diverse freshwater invertebrate species. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 66, 518–525.
- SUNDIN, L. & NILSSON, G. (1998). Endothelin redistributes blood flow through the lamellae of rainbow trout gills. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 168, 619–623.
- TANG, Y. L., LI, S. Y., LU, Y., LI, Q. & YU, S. L. (2015). The influence of humic acid on the toxicity of nano-ZnO and Zn²⁺ to the Anabaena sp. Environmental Toxicology 30, 895–903.
- TASMIN, R., SHIMASAKI, Y., TSUYAMA, M., QIU, X., KHALIL, F., OKINO, N., YAMADA, N., FUKUDA, S., KANG, I. J. & OSHIMA, Y. (2014). Elevated water temperature reduces the acute toxicity of the widely used herbicide diuron to a green alga, *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata. Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 21 (2), 1064–1070.
- THOMAS, C. R., HOSE, G. C., WARNE, M. S. & LIM, R. P. (2008). Effects of river water and salinity on the toxicity of deltamethrin to freshwater shrimp, cladoceran, and fish. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 55, 610–618.
- THURMAN, E. M. (1985). *Geochemistry of Natural Waters*, p. 497. Martinus Nijhof/Dr. W. Junk Publishers, Dordrecht, Boston.

- TIPPING, E. (2002). Cation Binding by Humic Substances. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- TOMASSO, J. R. & GROSELL, M. (2005). Physiological basis for large differences in resistance to nitrite among freshwater and freshwater-acclimated euryhaline fishes. *Environmental Science & Technology* 39(1), 98–102.
- UNEP (2019). The Global Freshwater Quality Database GEMStat. International Centre for Water Resources and Global Change, Koblenz.
- US EPA (2013). Aquatic life ambient water quality criteria for ammonia freshwater. Electronic file available at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-08/ documents/fact_sheet_aquatic-life-ambient-water-quality-criteria-for-ammoniafreshwater-2013.pdf Accessed 10.01.2021.
- US EPA (2019). Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) chemical substances inventory. Electronic file available at https://www.epa.gov/tsca-inventory Accessed 09.04.2020.
- US EPA (2020). ECOTOX user guide: ECOTOXicology knowledgebase system. Version 4.0. Electronic file available at https://cfpub.epa.gov/ecotox/ Accessed 12/05/2020.
- VAL, A. L. (2000). Organic phosphates in the red blood cells of fish. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 125(4), 417–435.
- VALENTI, T. W. JR., PEREZ-HURTADO, P., CHAMBLISS, C. K. & BROOKS, B. W. (2009). Aquatic toxicity of sertraline to *Pimephales promelas* at environmentally relevant surface water pH. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 28(12), 2685–2694.
- VARANKA, S. & HJORT, J. (2017). Spatio-temporal aspects of the environmental factors affecting water quality in boreal rivers. *Environmental Earth Sciences* 76, 21.
- VÖROSMARTY, C. J., MCINTYRE, P. B., GESSNER, M. O., DUDGEON, D., PRUSEVICH, A., GREEN, P., GLIDDEN, S., BUNN, S. E., SULLIVAN, C. A., REIDY LIERMANN, C. & DAVIES, P. M. (2010). Global threats to human water security and river biodiversity. *Nature* 467, 555–561.
- WALKER, I. & HENDERSON, P. A. (1996). Ecophysiological aspects of Amazonian Blackwater litterbank fish communities. In *Physiology and Biochemistry of Fishes of the Amazon* (eds A. L. VAL, V. M. F. ALMEIDA-VAL and D. J. RANDALL), pp. 7–22. Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazonia, Manaus.
- WANG, T., KNUDSEN, P. K., BRAUNER, C. J., BUSK, M., VIJAYAN, M. M. & JENSEN, F. B. (1998). Copper exposure impairs intra- and extracellular acid-base regulation during hypercapnia in the fresh water rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Journal of Comparative Physiology Part B: Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology 168(8), 591–599.
- WARD, J. L., COX, M. K. & SCHOENFUSS, H. (2017). Thermal modulation of anthropogenic estrogen exposure on a freshwater fish at two life stages. *Hormones* and Behavior 94, 21–32.
- WILKIE, M. P. & WOOD, C. M. (1996). The adaptations of fish to extremely alkaline environments. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 113(4), 665–673.
- WILLIAMS, E. M. & EDDY, F. B. (1986). Chloride uptake in freshwater teleosts and its relationship to nitrite uptake and toxicity. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology* 156(6), 867–872.
- WILSON, R. W. (2011). Aluminum. In Fish Physiology (eds C. M. WOOD, A. P. FARRELL and C. J. BRAUNER), pp. 67–123. Academic Press, Cambridge.
- WILSON, R. W. & TAYLOR, E. W. (1993a). Differential responses to copper in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) acclimated to sea water and brackish water. Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology 163(3), 239–246.
- WILSON, R. W. & TAYLOR, E. W. (1993b). The physiological responses of freshwater rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss, during acutely lethal copper exposure. Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology 163(1), 38–47.
- WINDSOR, F. M., ORMEROD, S. J. & TYLER, C. R. (2018). Endocrine disruption in aquatic systems: up-scaling research to address ecological consequences. *Biological Reviews* 93(1), 626–641.
- WITHEROW, R. A. & LYONS, W. B. (2011). The fate of minor alkali elements in the chemical evolution of salt lakes. *Saline Systems* 7, 2.
- WOOD, C. M. (2011). An introduction to metals in fish physiology and toxicology: basic principles. In *Fish Physiology* (eds C. M. WOOD, A. P. FARRELL and C. J. BRAUNER), pp. 1–51.Academic Press, Cambridge.
- WOOD, C. M., AL-REASI, H. A. & SMITH, D. S. (2011). The two faces of DOC. Aquatic Toxicology 105(3 Supplement), 3–8.
- WOOD, C. M. & EOM, J. (2021). The osmorespiratory compromise in the fish gill. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 254, 110895.
- WOOD, C. M. & GROSELL, M. (2008). A critical analysis of transepithelial potential in intact killifish (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) subjected to acute and chronic changes in salinity. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 178, 713–727.
- WOOD, C. M., MCDONALD, M. D., GROSELL, M., MOUNT, D. R., ADAMS, W. J., PO, B. H. & BRIX, K. V. (2020). The potential for salt toxicity: can the transepithelial potential (TEP) across the gills serve as a metric for major ion toxicity in fish? Aquatic Toxicology 226, 105568.

- WOOD, C. M., MCDONALD, M. D., WALKER, P., GROSELL, M., BARIMO, J. F., PLAYLE, R. C. & WALSH, P. J. (2004). Bioavailability of silver and its relationship to ionoregulation and silver speciation across a range of salinities in the gulf toadfish (*Opsanus beta*). Aquatic Toxicology 70(2), 137–157.
- WOOD, C. M., WILSON, R. W., GONZALEZ, R. J., PATRICK, M. L., BERGMAN, H. L., NARAHARA, A. & VAL, A. L. (1998). Responses of an Amazonian teleost, the tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*), to low pH in extremely soft water. *Physiological Zoology* **71**(6), 658–670.
- WURTS, W. A. (1993). Understanding water hardness. World Aquaculture 24, 1-18.
- XIA, J. G., MA, Y. J., GUO, W. M., HUANG, L. & FU, S. J. (2015). Temperaturedependent effects of PFOS on risk recognition and fast-start performance in juvenile *Spinibarbus sinensis*. Aquatic Biology 24(2), 101–108.
- XING, L. Q., LIU, H. L., GIESY, J. P. & YU, H. X. (2012). pH-dependent aquatic criteria for 2,4-dichlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol and pentachlorophenol. *Science of the Total Environment* 441, 125–131.
- XU, Y. J., XU, Z. & YANG, R. J. (2019). Rapid daily change in surface water pCO₍₂₎ and CO₂ evasion: a case study in a subtropical eutrophic lake in Southern USA. *Journal of Hydrology* 570, 486–494.
- YANG, R., BRAUNER, C., THURSTON, V., NEUMAN, J. & RANDALL, D. J. (2000). Relationship between toxicant transfer kinetic processes and fish oxygen consumption. Aquatic Toxicology 48(2–3), 95–108.
- ZHANG, J. Y., NI, Y.Y., DING, T. D. & ZHANG, C. L. (2014). The role of humic acid in the toxicity of arsenite to the diatom *Navicula* sp. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 21, 4366–4375.

(Received 13 August 2020; revised 16 March 2021; accepted 17 March 2021; published online 4 May 2021)